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Holy Cross Hospital 
Fri Feb 28, 2003 01:23 am 

Outpatient Summary Report-General Lab Studies 

Pat Name: 
Unit #/Acct #: 
Loc: 
Phys-Service: 

NEUSTADTER,ISRAEL 
815510/M0305800320 
LAB 02/27/03 
NAWAZ,AHMED - MEDICAL 

Page: 1 

******************************************************************************* 
In: 02/27/03 1856 ------------------------- Spec: Blood 
Out: 02/27/03 1929 I BASIC METABOLIC PANEL I Techs: V8491 T499 
ColI Time: 02/27/03 1813 -------------------------
Order Phys: NAWAZ,AHMED [M0305800320/5440005] 

Result Name 

Sodium (mmol/L) : 
Potassium (mmol/L) : 
Chloride (mmol/L) : 
Carbon Dioxide (mmol/L) : 
Glucose (mg/dl) : 

Urea Nitrogen (mg/dl) : 
Creatinine (mg/dl) : 
Calcium (mg/dl) : 

In: 02/27/03 1856 
Out: 02/27/03 2240 
ColI Time: 02/27/03 1813 
Order Phys: NAWAZ,AHMED 

Result Name 

WBC(K/mm3) : 
Red Blood Cells (M/mm3) : 
Hemoglobin (gm/dl) : 
Hct (%) : 
MCV (fl) : 
MCH (pg) : 
MCHC(%) : 
RDW: 
Platelet,Auto(K/mm3) : 
MPV (fl) : 
Auto-Lymphocytes(%) : 
Auto-Monocytes(%) : 
Auto-Neutrophils(%) : 
Auto-Eosinophils(%) : 
Auto-Basophils(%) : 

*STAT*STAT*STAT* 
Result 

125. L 
3.8 
88. L 
25. 
83. 

18. 
.8 
8.2 L 

I CBC,AUTOMATED DIFF I 

*STAT*STAT*STAT* 
Result 

14.3 H 
3.36 L 
11. 5 L 
32.0 L 
95.5 
34.2 
35.8 
11.5 
227 
8.29 
10.3 L 
8.64 
79.2 H 
1. 63 
.229 L 

Normal Range 

135-145 
3.8-5.2 
96-112 
22-30 
70-110 
<140=Gestational 
7-22 
0.5-1.2 
8.7-10.7 

Spec: Blood 
Techs: V8491 T10636 

[M0305800320/5440005] 

Normal Range 

3.6-10.8 
4.73-5.61 
13.0-16.9 
42.2-48.6 
84.0-97.6 
27.3-34.3 
33.0-36.1 
11.5-14.5 
140-440 
8.0-12.0 
23.6-57.9 
2.0-10.0 
42.0-75.0 
0.0-10.0 
0.5-2.0 

End of Report - 02/28/03 01:23am 

NEUSTADTER,ISRAEL 
L=LOW H=HIGH P=PANIC &=ADDENDUM C=CORRECTED 815510/M0305800320 

LAB 02/27/03 
(M-04/14/11) 
Dr. NAWAl., .1\l..iIVit';D 
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Eleven days prior to admission:
Symptomatic patient with hyponatremia and elevated white count of 14.3 with neutrophil predominance.
Isn't follow-up warranted?
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Holy Cross Hospital 
Fri Feb 28, 2003 07:25 pm 

Outpatient Summary Report-General Lab Studies 

Pat Name: 
Unit #/Acct #: 
Loc: 
Phys Service: 

NEUSTADTER,ISRAEL 
815510/M0305800320 
LAB 02/27/03 
NAWAZ,AHMED - MEDICAL 

Page: 1 

******************************************************************************* 
In: 02/27/03 1856 
Out: 02/27/03 2240 
ColI Time: 02/27/03 1813 
Order Phys: NAWAZ,AHMED 

Result Name 

WBC(K/mm3) : 
Red Blood Cells (M/mm3) : 
Hemoglobin -( gmj dl; : 
Hct (%) : 
MCV (fl) : 
MCH (pg) : 
MCHC (%) : 
RDW: 
Platelet,Auto(K/mm3) : 
MPV (fl) : 
Auto Lymphocytes(%): 
Auto-Monocytes(%) : 
Auto-Neutrophils(%) : 
Auto-Eosinophils(%) : 
Auto-Basophils(%) : 
Auto-Lymphocyte (K/mm3) : 
Auto-Monocytes(K/mm3) : 
Auto-Neutrophils(K/mm3) : 
Auto-Eosinophils(K/mm3) : 
Auto-Basophils(K/mm3) : 

-I CBC,AUTOMATED DIFF I 

* STAT * STAT * STAT * 
Result 

14.3 H 
3.36 L 
11.5 L 
32.0 L 
95.5 
34.2 
35.8 
11. 5 
227 
8.29 
10.3 L 
8.64 
79.2 H 
1.63 
.229 L 
1.48 & 
1. 23 &H 
11.3 &H 
.233 & 
.033 & 

Spec: Blood 
Techs: V8491 T10636,10507 

[M0305800320/5440005] 

Normal Range 

3.6-10.8 
4.73-5.61 
13.0-16.9 
42.2-48.6 
84.0-97.6 
27.3-34.3 
33.0-36.1 
11.5-14.5 
140-440 
8.0-12.0 
23.6-57.9 
2.0-10.0 
42.0-75.0 
0.0-10.0 
0.5-2.0 
1.2-3.4 
0.2-1.0 
1.4-6.5 
0.0-0.7 
0.0-0.2 

End of Report - 02/28/03 07:25pm 

NEUSTADTER, ISRAEL 
L=LOW H=HIGH P=PANIC &=ADDENDUM C=CORRECTED 815510/M0305800320 

LAB 02/27/03 
(M-04/14/11) 

:'utp':lL i.ent Summary Rep0rt-Genera!. ~~?.b ~~':l..lcie:.: D:1... N,~.V;~Z, AHMED 
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Absolute Neutrophil Count of 11.3, more than double patient's 10-year baseline; even more suspicious for bacterial infection than bandemia (left-shift).
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Holy Cross Hospital 
Wed Mar OS, 2003 11:12 pm 

Outpatient Summary Report-General Lab Studies 

Pat Name: 
Unit #/Acct #: 
Loc: 
Phys-Service: 

NEUSTADTER,ISRAEL 
815510/M0306400169 
LAB 
ALTSCHULER,MORTON - MEDICAL 

Page: 1 

******************************************************************************* 
In: 03/05/03 1225 ------------------------- Spec: Blood 
Out: 03/05/03 1246 I BASIC METABOLIC PANEL I Techs: V1984 T507 
ColI Time: 03/05/03 1215 -------------------------
Order Phys: ALTSCHULER,MORTON [M0306400169/5448621] 

Result Name 

Sodium (mmol/L) : 
PQtassium(mmol/L~ : 
Chloride (mmol/L) : 
Carbon Dioxide (mmol/L) : 
Glucose (mg/dl) : 

Urea Nitrogen (mg/dl) : 
Creatinine (mg/dl) : 
Calcium (mg/dl) : 

* STAT * STAT * STAT * 

W 
4.3 . P 

98 .... 
28. 
73. 

9 . 
.7 
8.4 L 

Normal Range 

135-145 
3.8 5.2 
96-112 
22-30 
70-110 
<140=Gestational 
7-22 
0.5-1.2 
8.7-10.7 

End of Report - 03/05/03 11:12pm 

NEUSTADTER,ISRAEL 
L=LOW H=HIGH P=PANIC &=ADDENDUM C=CORRECTED 815510/M0306400169 

LAB 
(M-04/14/11) 

nllr.n;::>+-. ;. "-, l~. S'":mm~ry Repr>Y"-: - u':...:':'ral Lah Studi'.-o> Dr. ~:LTS~"'~J;.,ER., MORTON 
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Five days prior to admission:
Shouldn't white count be rechecked with BMP?
Shouldn't still-symptomatic patient be seen in office? 

an
Highlight



?ec. Type: Blood 
ssult. name 

:)dium (mrnol/L) : 
~tassiurn(mmol/L) : 
n.lorid.e (mmol/Ll : 
~rbon Dioxide (mmol/L) : 
lucose(mg/d.l) : 

rea Nitrogen{mg/dl) : 
reatinine(mg/dll: 
alcium(mg/dl) : 

Ord.ering PhYlili ALTSCHULER.,MOR'rON 815510 
Collected: 03/05/03 1215 [5448621] 

Result Normal Range 

132. L 
4.3 
98. 
28. 
73. 

9. 
.7 
8.4 L 

End of Reportl 

135-145 
3.8-5.2 
96-112 
22-30 
70-110 
<140aGestational 
7-22 
0.5-1.2 
8.7-10.7 

STAT- A/Date: 03/05/03 1225 Mar 05,2003 1503 (Q4/14/1911) 1 
DUPLICATE BASIC METABOLIC PANE M03064001S9 LAB 
8ST STATUS: Done !.\"'BUSTADTBR, I SRA 

TOTAL P.01 
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• • , \ 
\...,./' 

1500 Forest Glen Road· Silver Spring. Maryland 20910-1484' (301) 754-7500 

EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT 

RECORD 

"'BP: 90/50 mm. Hg Sitting 12:02 
BP: 130153 mm. Hg Supine 14:07 

P: 62 lmin. 12:02 

Resp: 18/min. 12:02 

Temp: 98.3 F Oral 12:02 

PulseOX: 98 % Room Air 12:04 

MEDICATIONS: Medication list reviewed - see list. (KRM) 

Patient: • JSTADTER, ISJEL 

Medical Record #: 815510 

0306900162 Account #: 

Visit Date: 3/10/2003 

Age: 91 

DOB: 4/14/1911 

CONCISE SUMMARY: [Pts. son states that his father fell at home 2 nights ago. Pt. lives with the son in his apartment. Pts. son 
states that pt. has gradually become disoriented since the fall. Pt. normally carries on a conversation and responds sponateously 
to questions but since the fall the pts. son states that the pts. mental status has progressively become worse. Pt. was in to see Dr. 
Nawaz today and was sent to the ER.] (KRM) 

HISTORY: 
12:02 The onset ofthe presenting problem began [3] days ago.The patient's son supplied some of the history. Overall the history 
seems quite reliable. 

Problem #1 Fall: The patient lost their balance and fell. 

Problem #2 Decreased level of consciousness: Presents with an altered level of consciousness.Patient has had gradual change in 
LOC over a period of days. Patient lives with family. Baseline mental status is consistent with mild dementia. The patient seems 
confused to observers. Has had a significant decrease in normal activity. Patient is poorly responsive. 

Problem #3 Head trauma: Patient remains poorly arousable.Other symptoms associated with this injury include [unable to 
evaluate symptoms due to pts. condition.]. 

General History and Problem specific ROS: Injury can be coded as occurring in home environs. These symptoms are slowly 
getting worse. Has become gradually less responsive over a pcriod of lime. Posil1ve hislOry for head injury. Currently symploms 
seem to be deteriorating. No history suggestive of syncope. No history of acquired or congenital bleeding diathesis. No history of 
pre-existing CNS pathology. Denies drugs or alcohol use. No history to suggest dehydration, sepsis, or diabetes. Patient is non 
verbal and unable to give reliable history. 

PMHIROS: Patient has elevated lipid profile History of hypertension. Has thyroid problems. There is a prior history of known 
coronary artery disease. Except as noted the remainder of the Past Medical History and Review of Systems are all negative. 
Patient has underlying mild Alzheimer's dementia. (KRM) 

SH: Lives in a family situation. Lives in a home environment. Currently retired from work force. Denies significant ETOH intake. 
Nonsmoker. Widowed. 

CONFIDENTIAL MEDICAL RECORD 1 of 4 
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Medication list is lost.  Hospital fails to administer Synthroid, Cosopt, Betagan.
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• • • Patient: _USTADTER,I.EL 

1500 Fores[ Glen Road· Silver Spring, Maryl~nd 20910-1484' (301) 754·7500 

EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT 

RECORD 

PHYSICAL EXAM: 

Medical Record #: 815510 

0306900162 Account #: 

Visit Date: 3/10/2003 

Age: 91 Sex:M 

DOB: 4/1411911 

GENERAL PRESENT A TION: Denies acute pain and is in no apparent distress. Patient does not appear acutely ill. Patient 
appears to be stated age. Skin is warm and dry with good color. This patient is quite elderly and frail. The patient is confused and 
a poor historian. Well hydrated with moist mucous membranes. Appears to be demented and a poor historian. 
OPTHAMOLOGIC EXAM: Conjunctivae clear. Sclerae nonicteric. The pupils are ~qual and reactive to light. EOM's are intact. 
ENT EXAM: Oropharynx is clear and moist. Nasal mucosa clear. TM's and EAC's are normal. The neck is supple without 
meningismus or significant adenopathy. The trachea is midline without thyromegaly. Has a local ecchymotic contusion over the 
upper lip. Exam and studies are consistent with an acute maxillary sinusitis. 
PULMONARY EXAM: Lungs are clear without wheezes, crackles or rhonchi. Respirations are nonlabored without accessory 
muscle use. 
CARDIOVASCULAR EXAM: Regular cardiac rate without significant murmur, rub or gallop. 
ABDOMEN AND FLANK EXAM: Abdomen is soft, nontender, and nondistended. Normoactive bowel sounds present. No 
hepatosplenomegaly noted. Flanks nontender. 

I 

NEUROLOGIC EXAM: Responds to voice. Non verbal - responds with groans. A reliable exam was not possible due to the 
patient's acuity and mental status. A reliable exam was not possible due to the patient's acuity and mental status. A reliable exam 
was not possible due to the patient's acuity and mental status. 
DERMATOLOGIC EXAM: Local ecchymotic contusion noted over the posterior occipital scalp. The area of the posterior 
occipital scalp is contused. 
PSYCHIATRIC AND MENTAL STATUS: This patient is essentially 'non communicative during the exam. Unable to reliably 
assess patient's judgment. Unable to reliably evaluate orientation at this point. Cannot adequately evaluate memory at this point. 
Attention span not evaluated at this time. Unable to evaluate language use at this time. 

PROGRESS NOTES: 
14:23 The patient's PMD, Dr. Nawaz, was contacted. He will admit the pt. (KRM) 

INTERPRET A nON OF TESTS: 
12:41 CT of head without contrast - radiology report reviewed. Diffuse small vessel disease noted on brain CT. Evidence of 
sinusitis noted on brain CT. No evidence of skull fracture. Atrophy noted on CT. No evidence of blood in the ventricles. No 
evidence of mass lesions or midline shift. 
12:50 EKG has a left axis deviation. EKG axis and voltage consistent with a left ventricular strain pattern. First degree heart 
block. 
12:51 Sodium (132 mEq/L). Normal serum potasium. Serum bicarbonate is OK. Serum Chloride is normal. Serum calcium is 
Vv'NL. Glucose· Routine (122 mg%). The blood sugar is normaL Creatinine is OK. BUN (24 mg%). The BUN is mildly 
elevated. 
12:52 Hematocrit (30.6 %). Patient is anemic. Hemoglobin (10.7 mg%). Patient is anemic. WBC (38500 /cu mm). The patient 
has a very significantly elevated wbc count. Platelets OK 
13:11 Normal CPK CPK cardiac isoenzymes WNL. CPK - MB INDEX (Ratio ofCKlMB to CK) (.05). Troponin (.6 U). 
14:08 X-ray 2 view of chest - radiology report reviewed. Has radiographic cardiomegaly. X-ray shows diffuse increase in 
interstitial markings consistent with congestive heart failure and pulmonary edema. (KRM) 
Primary Diagnosis 1) Altered level of consciousness 2) Dehydration, Sepsis 

SYMPTOM AND PROBLEM LIST:: Altered level of consciousness Major concussion with LOC Congestive heart failure Free 
Text DX: Dehydration, Sepsis Head injury Confusion on arrival in department Dense aphasia Diffuse CNS small vessel disease 
Moderate hyponatremia Marked leukocytosis Hx of hyperlipidemia Hx of hypertension Hypertension ASCVD Dementia 
Chronic dementia Alzheimer dementia Dementia associated with Alzheimer Acute maxillary sinusitis Left axis deviation Left 
ventricular strain pattern First degree heart block Moderate anemia Systolic hypotension (This visit) Old age debility Contusion 
posterior occipital scalp Injury to posterior occipital scalp Injury to upper lip Cerebral atrophy Borderline elevated BUN Injury 
at home/environs Fall on level ground 

CONFIDENTIAL MEDICAL RECORD 2 of 4 

1) Alter( 
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CT found Acute Maxillary Sinusitis.
No findings of pneumonia.
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/ • • • Patient: .EUSTADTER, IttEL 

1500 Forest Glen Road· Silver Spring, Maryl~nd 20910-1484 • (301) 754·7500 

EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT 

RECORD 

PHYSICIAN DISPOSITION: 

Medical Record #: 815510 

0306900162 Account #: 

Visit Date: 3/10/2003 

Age: 91 Sex:M 

DOB: 4/14/1911 

14:23 [Explained importance ofpts. admission including sepsis, Dehydration and the need ofIVantibiotics.) 
14:26 [Urine is pending.] (KRM) <;::ondition: Stable. 
14:27 Admit to regular bed. ' 
14:27 Case discussed with Dr. [Nawaz] who will admit to their service. I have reviewed the contents of this record, and my 
electronic signature confirms its accuracy. (HCe) 

!!J!:2. 

E849.0 Injury at home/environs 
E885.9 Fall on level ~ound 
331.9 Cerebral atrophy 
429.3 Radiographic cardiomegaly 
458.9 Systolic hypotension (This visit) 
790.6 Borderline elevated BUN 
797 Old age debility 
920 Contusion posterior occipital scalp 

Contusion upper lip 
959.01 Injury to posterior occipital scalp 
959.09 Injury to upper lip 
272.4 Hx of hyperlipidemia 
285.9 Moderate anemia 
290.0 Dementia associated with Alzheimer 
294.8 Chronic dementia 
294.9 Dementia 
331.0 Alzheimer dementia 
401.9 Hx of hypertension 
426.11 First degree heart block 
426.2 Left axis deviation 
429.2 ASCVD , 
429.3 Left ventricular strain pattern 
461.0 Acute maxillary sinusitis 
V 12.59 Hypertension 

ASCVD 
276.1 Moderate hyponatremia 
288.8 Marked leukocytosis 
443.9 Diffuse CNS small vessel disease 
780.02 Confusion on arrival in department 
784.3 Dense aphasia 
854.00 Head injury 
428.0 Congestive heart failure 
780.09 Altered level of consciousness 
850.2 Major concussion with LOC 
999.99 Free Text DX: Dehydration, Sepsis 

CONFIDENTIAL MEDICAL RECORD 3 of 4 
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Erroneous coding: There was no diagnosis of CHF, no altered level of consciousness, no loss of consciousness at any time.
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Repetitive and overlapping diagnostic codes, but failure to find pacemaker placement or pneumonia.
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I • • Patient: «UST ADTER, I.EL 
1500 Forest Glen Road· Silver Spring. Maryland 20910-1484' (301) 754-7500 

CPT 

70450·52 
71020-52 
93010 
93042 
94760 
99285 

EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT 

RECORD 

Medical Record #: 815510 

0306900162 Account #: 

Visit Date: 3/10/2003 

Age: 91 Sex:M 

DOB: 4/14/1911 

Henry C. Chu MD: ___________________ _ 

Electronic Signatures derived from a single control/ed password 

~ ") Kevin R Mull PA (KRM) ,. 
Henry C. Chu MD (HCC) 

CONFIDENTIAL MEDICAL RECORD 4 of 4 
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According to Dalmarva Foundation Quality Concern Inquiry, it is "not clear...why the orders on 3/10/03 included "DNR," in opposition to the son's wishes for this patient."
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/Delmarva_Nawaz_4-3-06.pdf#page=2
al
Text Box
Unauthorized 'DNR' order written in ER absent any discussion.
Is this Holy Cross's tacit code status for the "demented elderly"?
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Why is Levaquin cut to 250mg?  There is no geriatric Levaquin dose and patient's renal function is superb.  Isn't resolution of 38k leukocytosis most dependent on antibiotics?
 
Why do Kardex & progress notes show Levaquin 500 for 3 more days?  Doesn't this order mean it was changed to 250mg upon transfer from ER on day one?
 
Physicians Order Forms and medication list show gap in antibiotic coverage for period of March 17 to March 20.
 
Pharmacy printout obtained by court order shows 40% of prescribed abx doses were never dispensed by hospital pharmacy.
 
High WBC tolorated throughout 17-day hospitalization without infectious disease consult or attention to antibiotics. White count finally jumps to 43k and my father goes into acute respiratory distress.

-
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/prognotes-antibiotics.pdf
-
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/physician_order_forms.pdf#page=2
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/hch_pharmacy.pdf
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/medication_printout.pdf
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/hematology.pdf
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Nurses Kardex conflicts with physician order form, which changed dosage to 250mg.  What dosage did my father actually receive?
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In cardiac monitoring area pending admission at 3:30 pm.
 
Still no pneumonia.
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I made it clear that my father was full code yet was questioned about it repeatedly.  My answer was always the same.
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Monday afternoon, March 10
 
- Dr. Ahmed Nawaz, admitting & attending physician.
 
Admission notes state "possible aspiration pneumonia," making no mention of Community Acquired Pneumonia.
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/hch_admit.pdf
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March 11, Tuesday morning
 
- Consult with Dr. Jay Weiner, head of pulmonology
  practice under hospital contract.
 
If aspiration pneumonia, why aren't antibiotics with anaerobic coverage like clindamycin or Zosyn used?
 
Why is patient continuing to be fed orally prior to swallowing study and with increasing hypoxemia?
Dr. Weiner testified that patient was too sick to eat  and that any food would have made him worse.

-
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-
Text Box
- Doctor Steven Kariya, pulmonologist
  in Dr. Weiner's practice.
 
"Demented older babbling male," is Dr. Kariya's tender portrayal of my dear father, speaking in Yiddish to his son at bedside.
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Doctor Kariya's goals already at odds with family.
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/weiner_depo_9-6-07_swallowing.pdf
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March 11
 
"I discussed with son code status, Patient is Full Code, will intubate and transfer to ICU if needed."
 
- Dr. Libuse Heinz, pulmonologist in Dr. Weiner's
  practice.
 
Dr. Heinz's notations were complete and accurate on each of her 3 visits with my father.
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3rd-year medical student sees 'DNR' on first Physician Order Form and wrongfully assumes patient is DNR.
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Conflicts with physician order form which changed dosage to 250mg.
What dosage did my father receive?
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/physician_order_form_3-10-03.pdf
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/physician-order_3-10-03-dnr.pdf
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Was my father septic or not?
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Conflicts with physician order form which changed dosage to 250mg.
What dosage did my father receive?

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/physician_order_form_3-10-03.pdf
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"My mother died about a year ago in the next room.  No, it was 2 rooms down.  It was so peaceful."
 
- Dr. Steven Kariya
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Conflicts with physician order form which changed dosage to 250mg.
What dosage did my father receive?

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/physician_order_form_3-10-03.pdf


26

an
Line

an
Line

an
Text Box
3rd-year medical student sees numerous 'Full Code' notations alongside 'DNR' (absent dnr form) and wrongfully assumes "son's wishes seem to change."  This med student never spoke with me.
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"Looks Septic...  Will need vent with any further deterioration if aggressive treatment is desired.  Given his age I doubt it will change ultimate outcome."
 
- Dr. Weiner
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March 14, Friday Morning, 9:30 am
 
Nutritional Consult (no food consumed since Tuesday).
 
- Will not personally attempt NG tube insertion (unlikely to succeed).
- Will not order NG tube insertion under x-ray guidance (grossly inappropriate elective procedure).
- Will not order a PICC line for TPN (unreasonable given bother and expense).
- Will order PPN immediately as a "fair compromise."
 
"Mr. Neustadter, may I be frank with you?  I want to do as little as possible for your father
because I don't want to hurt him."
 
- Dr. Milton Koch, gastroenterologist -- Fails to order promised PPN nutritional support.
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/consult-report-gi.pdf#page=3
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March 14, Friday afternoon
Dr. Nawaz fails to order nutritional support.
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March 15, Saturday
 
Dr. Nawaz, one day later, again fails to order this nutritional support.  My father now 5 days without food!
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March 15, Saturday afternoon
 
- Dr. Ball, on-call pulmonologist in Dr. Weiner's practice,
  cannot account for lack of nutritional support but
  promises peripheral nutrition will be delivered by evening.
 
- Hospital fails to process order for peripheral nutrition
  causing an additional 24 hour delay.
 
PPN doesn't arrive until Sunday night at 8:00 pm -
58 hours after first recommended.  Prealbumin sinks to 3.8 mg/dl (reference=20-40 mg/dl) indicative of starvation.

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/ppn_3-16-03.pdf
-
Text Box
Dr. Ball, in the presence of my friends, urges me to consider the emotional impact that treating an elderly man like my father has on staff morale.
 
Dr. Ball writes unauthorized DNR the next day.
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/prealbumin.pdf
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Dr. Nawaz fails to renew antibiotics

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/physician_order_forms.pdf#page=2
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PICC line placement ordered for TPN nutrition, but PA on call has no PICC line insertion experience.  Procedure delayed until Monday!

-
Line

-
Text Box
Dr. Ball orders megadose of Haldol for agitation but fails to renew antibiotics.
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Rectangle
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/physician_order_forms.pdf#page=13
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/nurses-prog-notes-picc-line.pdf
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Line
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-
Rectangle

-
Text Box
Dubhoff tube was never placed.

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/dnr.pdf
-
Rectangle

-
Text Box
Responding to weekend on-call doctor's questioning, I explain that in cases of clearly terminal illness Jewish law might not require a life-sustaining procedure that cracks ribs - but that each situation is unique and must be evaluated in consultation with one's rabbi.
 
Without informing family or admitting physician, Dr. Ball writes DNR order on the basis of this conversation.
 
Under PRE ARREST ORDERS patient is listed as a "candidate for intubation," whatever that means.

-
Line

al
Line
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-
Text Box
March 17, Monday
 
"Doing fine.  Blood gasses look better.  More alert.  Will try to wean him."
 
- Dr. Nawaz


-
Rectangle
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-
Text Box
March 18, Tuesday
 
(Extubated Monday afternoon, TPN started Monday night.)
 
"Patient lethargic but opens eyes to stimuli."
 
"Aspiration pneumonia improving.
Neuropathy of critical illness.
Dementia."
 
- Dr. Weiner

-
Text Box
March 17, Monday, approximately 4:00 pm
 
Just prior to extubation, Dr. Weiner waved his finger in my face and raised his voice in anger:
 
"Remember what I told you. (He'll go) On-again, off-again, on-again, off-again until you tell us to stop.  Has he woken up?  Has he tried to talk to you?"
 
I contacted Caroline Williams of Patient Relations to file a complaint immediately after this encounter.
 
Dr. Weiner denies seeing my father or me on March 17, but a Verbal Order to extubate proves he was present.

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/physician_order_forms.pdf#page=15
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/weiner_excerpt_3-17.pdf
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-
Text Box
March 18, Tuesday
 
"Groggy but opening eyes and (following) commands."
 
- Dr. Nawaz
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-
Rectangle

-
Rectangle

-
Text Box
March 20, Thursday
 
- The same day Dr. Weiner writes "failure to thrive" & "long term very grim,"
  a nurse writes: "More alert and active.  Reaching and trying to talk.
  Breathing more relaxed."
 
- Physical therapist Laura Heughens writes: "Sitting at edge of bed, able to
  dangle 10-15 minutes.  Rehab potential is fair."
 
Meanwhile, continued high WBC and "copious amounts of thick, creamy, tenacious secretions" noted by nurses and respiratory therapists are completely ignored.  Physicians Order Forms show no antibiotics ordered for period of March 17 to March 20.  Pharmacy printout shows 40% of prescribed doses were never dispensed by hospital pharmacy.

-
Line

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/physician_order_forms.pdf#page=2
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/hematology.pdf
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/hch_pharmacy.pdf


Holy Cross Hospital 

From: 10-Mar-2003 at 13:55 
To: 27-Mar-2003 at 18:51 

Progress Notes 
03/18 13:45 MD Susan L. Snyder, RN 

Seen by Dr.Nawaz, who spoke, at length, with son. 
03/19 01:14 Cough susan d. willoughby 

Problem: Impaired Airway Clearance 
received pt.awake,mental state unchanged. patient's 
son remains @ bedside. pt. coughs frequently however 
unproductive. deep oral suctioning tried x 2 using 
suction kit unable to pullout sufficient amt. 
pt. son voiced his concern and disapointment reo 
lack of precribed respiratory therapy, states he 
will speak with md. regarding options. pt. has 
been turned from side to side and given cpt xl . 
. 40 02 remains in use via hhfm.observed no resp. 
distress or symptoms of pain, morphine given x 
1 for restlessness. 

03:00 Respiratory susan d. willoughby 

pt. cont. to sound coarse with unproductive cough. 
resp. notified to replace 02 humidification. therapist 
NIT suctioned pt. pulling out large amt. of thick 
creamy tanish secretion. pt. sounds much better and 
coughing has stopped. 

16:23 Case Mgmt-progress Note Stella R. Ross. RN/CM 
Problem: Potential Need for Post Acute Care 
Chart reviewed. Pt remains in ICU/extubated" son at bedside. 
pending PT consult. Continue with currentplan of care. CMC will 
continue to follow. 

03/20 02:58 Mentation susan d. willoughby 

received pt.awake in bed,son at bed side. pt. appears 
more alert and active today; reaching and trying to talk. 
his breathing is more relaxed with the nc,he continues 
to sat. in mid./high 90"s. nt suctioning is effective 
for airway clearance. pt. was given 2mg morphine xl @ 
approx. midnight. for restlessness and removing his nco 
lopressor was held at 2000 due to low bp and hr. 

07:30 OT Evaluation Richard J. Holley, OT 

0000815510 

Problem: Impaired Functional Mobility 
This patient is referred to OT for Evaluation/treatment and 
discharge planning 

Diagnosis: Septicemia NOS 

Precautions: Fall. aspsiartion 

Noted: DNR. Physician Cert. of Incapacity 

PMHX: Demantia, Macular Degeneration, Anemia, HTN, Zenkes 
Diveticular. CAD, SIP ACID, H/O Pneumonia, H/O Sepsis 

Prior to this admission, the patients level of function in ADLs 
was with minimal assist of familyl caregiver 

used cane during ambualtion 
dependent: transportation 

Prior Rehab: The pt has not received OT in the past 

EVALUATION 
Upon evaluation the patient demonstrates the following: 
Feeding: NPO 

Continued on next page 
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an
Text Box
From Nurses Notes

an
Text Box
Unauthorized, expired DNR. Patient was Full Code.
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Highlight

an
Text Box
Son wants aggressive treatment for his recovering father.

al
Line

an
Text Box
Patient apparently not terminally ill.  Why was treatment withheld? 

al
Line
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Highlight

al
Line

al
Line

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/dnr.pdf
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/nawaz-shamim-kariya-excerpts-code-status.pdf


Holy Cross Hospital 

From: 10-Mar-2003 at 13:55 
To: 27-Mar-2003 at 18:51 

Progress Hotes 
03/20 07:30 Continued from previous page -

education will include patient/family/caretaker/staff education, 
exercise program, AOL's/self-care training, functional 
activities/exercises, cognitive training, adaptive equipment 
training, balance & gross coordination activities, compensatory 
techniques, energy conservation, discharge planning, joint 
protection, positioning, ROM exercises/activities, strengthening 
exercises/activites, safety screening, functional mobility 
training, fine motor training 

Patient will be seen 4-6 times a week for OT treatment. 

If pt is discharged from HCH causing STGs not to be met, defer 
unmet goal achievement to follow up care/facility. 

Thank you for this referral 

08:55 PT Re-eval Laura R. Heughens, PT, 20326 
Problem: Impaired Functional Mobility 
Database:Pt evaluated by PT on 3-11-03. Pt placed on hold on 
3-14-03 for a change in medical status. Pt transfered fo ICU for 
respiratory distress. Pt intubated then extubated on 
please refer to initial eval for further info. 
s: Pt is non verbal but does opens eyes to commands & tactile 
stimuli. 
O;ROM:BUE:less than 1/4 AROM at shoulders, 1/2 AROM at elbows and 
3/4 AROM at hands. PROM:shoulder flex:90deg B, elbow and hand WFL 
B. Increased resistance noted during all PROM at B UEs. 
BLe:l/2 AROM at hip and knees, <1/4 AROM at ankles. 
PROM: WFL overall. 

Bed mobility:rolling to L & R maxA. sup-sit, sit-sup maxA. 

Balance: sitting at edge of bed c BUE support minA. 
Pt abe to dangle -10-15min. 

Rx: BUE & BLE:PROM/AAROM in all planes lOx. 

A:Pt presents to PT c impaired functional mobility, decreased 
strength, endurance and balance. Pt would benefit from cont PT to 
work on above functional problems. Pt demonstrates ability to 
participate in PT. Pt's rehab potential is fair. 
Currently reccommend STNH for cont PT. 
STGs:5-6 sessions: 
1. Pt will ,t.""L'VUU sup-sit c modA. 
2. Pt will sit-stand c RW modA. 
3. Pt will transfer from bed-chair c modA. 
4. Pt will participate in ther exs program, AAROM > PROM. 
LTGs:12 sessiosn: 
1. Pt will perform sup-sit c minA. 
2. Pt will transfer sit-stand c RW minA. 
3. Pt will amb 15 ft x2 c RW minA. 

P: Pt to be seen by PT 4-6 x per week for functional 
mobility/transfers, balance, bed mobility, ther exs, eduction and 
ongoing assessment. 

09:28 assessment 
Problem: 

Irene C. Wosu-Asuru, RN 
Potential Need for Post Acute Care 

0000815510 

pt awake, non-verbal and unable to follow instructions. lung 
sounds clear and improved , no respiratory distress noted. 02 sat 
at 98% on 6 liters of 02. afebril, vital signs stable, less than 
50% paced on the telemonitor. TPN infusing at 83cc/hr, IV NS at 
kVO. full bath given, skin and oral care done. will continue to 
monitor pt's status. plan of care continues. 
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Text Box
Patient apparently not terminally ill.  Why was treatment withheld? 
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an
Text Box
High dose of Haldol (5 mg every 8 hours) started on 3/16/03 while on vent is not cancelled until elevated liver functions found on 3/24/03.
 
Significant muscle rigidity and the discontinue recommendation noted here are ignored.

-
Rectangle

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/physician_order_forms.pdf#page=13
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-
Text Box
March 22, Saturday
 
(Peg tube feeding not yet started.)
 
"Doing same.  Having eye contact.  Following commands."
 
- Dr. Nawaz, admitting & attending
  physician.
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Rectangle
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-
Text Box
March 23, Sunday
 
"Patient is alert following commands."
 
"Social Services consult for placement."
 
- Dr. Nawaz, admitting & attending
  physician.

-
Line

-
Line

-
Line

-
Line

-
Line

al
Text Box
Are these assessments consistent with a terminal patient for whom no further treatment is planned?
 
Why was treatment withheld on March 25?

-
Text Box
March 22, Saturday night
 
(Tube feeding just started.)
 
"Lethargic but easily arousable."  "From a pulmonary standpoint continue antibiotics for aspiration pneumonia."
 
- Dr. Heinz, pulmonologist in Dr.
  Weiner's practice.

al
Line

al
Line

al
Text Box
Progress notes show experts recommending treatment; no intention of letting my father die.
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-
Text Box
March 23, Sunday afternoon
 
"Tolerating tube feeds.  Oral hygiene improved.  I discussed Peg care with son.  If improves, may have speech reevaluated for comfort foods.  If improves substantially, may have surgery evaluation for Zenkers."
 
- Dr. Diamond, gastroenterologist.

-
Rectangle

-
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-
Line

-
Line

-
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-
Text Box
March 23, Sunday evening
 
"Patient is more awake today."  "Tolerates tube feeding."  "From pulmonary standpoint will need to complete 2-week antibiotic course.  Will need to repeat chest x-ray in 4 weeks."
 
- Dr. Heinz, pulmonologist in Dr. Weiner's practice.

al
Text Box
Are these assessments consistent with a terminal patient for whom no further treatment is planned?
 
Why was treatment withheld on March 25?
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-
Text Box
If patient is aspirating, isn't Dr. Kariya obligated to offer tracheotomy or intubation?

-
Rectangle

-
Rectangle

-
Rectangle

an
Text Box
High dose of Haldol (5 mg every 8 hours) started on 3/16/03 while on vent.  Muscle rigidity noted on 3/20/03, but Haldol not discontinued until elevated liver functions found here.

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/physician_order_forms.pdf#page=13
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-
Text Box
Antibiotics never revisited despite persistently high WBC throughout hospitalization.
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Holy Cross Hospital 

From: 10-Mar-2003 at 13:55 
To: 27 -Mar- 2003 at 18: 51 

Progress Notes 
03/21 16:00 Miscellaneous Anita A. Clark, RN 

Recieved report assumed care of patient. 
21:56 assessment Luciana De1ca, RN 

Assumed pt. care at 19.30. Assessed per unit standards (see 
assessment flowshet). Alert, doesn't fo10w commands, nonverbal, 
resists turning and repositioning. Afebrile, VSS. PEG site: no 
bleeding or drainage, TPN infusing. will cont. to monitor. 

03/22 12:31 Secretions Karen R. Becraft, RN 

Suctioned down nares approx q 4hrs for large amount of upper 
airway thick creamy secretions. 

16:00 Tube Feeds Karen R. Becraft, RN 

Tube feeds isosource 30cc's initiated via peg tube. Pt to1 well. 
TPN to be diced after present bottle infused. 

20:38 Tx to IMC Karen R. Becraft, RN 

Report given to IMC. Pt tx to 6231 via bed. Son in attendance. 
21:00 Admission Note Kathy A. Butler, RN 

Received pt. from ICU in stable condition. VS stable. Pt. sleeping 
when not disturbed. Tube feeding increased to 50 cc/hr as ordered. 

03/23 12:27 Assessment Wanda C. Caesar, RN 

Assumed care of Patient, all treatment plan explained to Patient 
family prior to intervention. Physical assessment completed (see 
flow sheet) . Telemetry display 100% paced. Nasal suction done by 
resp. therapist, sputum sent for culture, neb tx. a1butero1 2.5mg 
given as per MD order. HOB elevated, pulse ox 97% on 3LNC. Family 
member at bedside, will continue with plan of care. 

20:09 Secretions Ronald L. Gibbs, rn 
Problem: Impaired Airway Clearance 
Pt. has weak, non-productive cough. Noted to be desaturating from 
98% to 86% on 4L 02/NC. using f1rxib1e suction catheter suctioned 
posterior oropharynx deeply with moderate amount of yellow/tan, 
thick secretions returned. Saturations returned to above 96% after 
suctioning. Pt. noted to have poor gag reflex. 

03/24 09:30 TUBE FEED Irene C. Wosu-Asuru, RN 

pt on isosource tube feeding , rate at 60cc/hr. am residual >100. 
held feeding for 1hr and restarted feeding after 1hr with same 
rate. abdomen soft with positive bowel sounds. 

12: 13 Case Mgmt-Progress Note Charleen Brand, SW/CM 

Have faxed a referra; to the Hebrew Home and TCC and gave son 
Chery1"s name and no. at the Hebrew Home (admissions) . 
301-770-8476. SW will follow at beeper 1440. Charleen Brand, 
ACSW-PRN 

17:48 nursing note Irene C. Wosu-Asuru, RN 
Problem: Potential Need for Post Acute Care 

total care, calm, alert and oriented xl. son at the bedside. no 
distress noted with pt. afebril, vital signs stable. continued to 

-- Continued on next page --
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60

-
Text Box
March 23, Sunday, 8:00 pm
 
I inform Nurse Gibbs that my father received no Levaquin on Sunday.  After attempting to contact previous nurse and after checking with pharmacy, Levaquin is started at 8:30 pm, more than 6 hours late.
  
Gibbs tells me he will chart the late delivery in order to allow for later administration of next dose on Monday.
 
Gibbs fails to note anything amiss.  Kardex shows Levaquin administered at usual time of 2:00 pm. 

-
Text Box
March 24, Monday, 5:40 pm
 
Just 5 hours after Dr. Kariya remarking "not conscious to me" a nurse writes: "Calm, alert and oriented X1, son at the bedside.  No distress noted with patient.  No fever, vital signs stable, no respiratory distress noted."
 
Daily Vital Signs show orientation for Monday night and Tuesday as X2 (alert and oriented to person and place).

an
Text Box
From Nurses Notes
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Holy Cross Hospital 

From: 10-Mar-2003 at 13:55 
To: 27-Mar-2003 at 18: 51 

Progress Notes 
03/24 17:48 -- Continued from previous page -

tolerate tube feeding well with minimal residual. maintained up 
and elevated in bed to minimize potential for aspiration. turned 
and repostioned for comfort every 2hrs. no respiratory distress 
noted with pt, continued to receive respiratory treatment as 
ordered. will continue to monitor pt's status. plan of care 
continues. 

19:40 Pastoral Care Susan C. Mitchell 

followup visit with pt and son, whom I had met earlier;son 
continues to be very anxious about care; he is working thru many 
personal issues; son and pt both are very observant Jews, and 
being able to practice is important to them;provided a listening 
presence, prayer, and pastoral care; encouraged him to call 
pastoral care prn; Chaplain Susan Mitchell 

03/25 07:21 nursing note pat a. chandler, rn 
Problem: Impaired Gas Exchange 
Sytems assessed unchanged during shift. Turned and positioned for 
confort. Son state that this is the first rested night he has had 
since dad in hospital. Complimented caregiver on "how good he 
looks. He looks so restfull, his sat is 100%'. 

Corrected 

nursing note pat a. chandler, rn 
Problem: Impaired Gas Exchange 
Sytems assessed unchanged during shift. Turned and positioned for 
confort. Blood specimen for am lab collected results pending. Son 
state that this is the first rested night he has had since dad in 
hospital. Complimented caregiver on 'how good he looks. He looks 
so restfull, his sat is 100%'. 

13:00 Pastoral Care Ellen K. Radday 

Follow-up visit per night chaplain's requesfor pastoral support to 
son. Son very appreciative. 

13:32 Nutrition Progress Note Chitua A. Okoh, RDLDN,PHD 

DIET: Isosource @ 60cc/h 
Assessmentipxs: 
1. TF on hold this pm probably due to scheduled sonogram 
2. Elevated liver enzymes noted on 3/24 
3. Continues to use 02; possible transfer this pm 
PLAN: 
1. May restart TF post sonogram, goal 60cc/h 
2. RD will continue to flu 

17:05 Respiratory Christina E. Canfield, RN 

pulse ox desat in the 80s. son by side and very anxious.son 
touching oxygen equipment and suction equipment. son stated that 
he had given patient apple juice and ice. resp called and 100% 
mask applied suction xl small amount of secretions noted. 15min 
later pulse ox 94-98%. DRkayixa aware. will continue to monitor. 
son stated i take the responsiblity of this ,my father was finally 
awake and was hungry. tube feeding held at this time. patient 
comfortable at this time. will follow plan of care. 

19:50 Respiratory Christina E. Canfield, RN 

0000815510 

patient restlesss and taking off mask with son present. 02 mask 
41iters attempted but not able to tolerate. 50%venti mask on and 
abgs done. pulse ox 96-97. hob remains elevated. gtube feeding off 
at this time. son remains at bedside. no further episodes of son 
giving patient ice or fluids of any kind. patient remains npo. 
-- Continued on next page --
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-
Text Box
March 24, Monday evening 
Patient doing very well.

-
Text Box
March 25, Tuesday morning
Patient continues to do very well.

-
Text Box
March 25, Tuesday, 5:00 pm
 
Respiratory distress suddenly sets in.
Withholding of treatment (forced euthanasia) begins.
 
- Peg feeding started just 72 hours ago.
- "Father was finally awake and hungry."
- No history of serious medical problems.
- Ambulatory, excellent quality of life.
 
What son could deny such a father ventilation?
What doctor would deny such a patient ventilation?
What hospital would allow it?

-
Text Box
"Son continues to be very anxious about care."  "Son and patient are very observant Jews, and being able to practice is important to them."
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From Nurses Notes
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-
Text Box
After writing, "Son stated that he had given patient apple juice and ice," Nurse Canfield purportedly calls Patient Relations the next morning to add that she observed him pushing ice chips down his father's throat.
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/patient_relations_worksheet.pdf#page=3
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-
Text Box
March 25, Tuesday afternoon

Approximately 1 hour before rapid onset of breathing difficulty.

Dr. Shamim talked with him and watched him suck on foam lollipop, remarking "great, you can swallow."

-
Text Box
Dr. Shamim fails to renew antibiotics

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/physician_order_forms.pdf#page=2
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-
Text Box
March 25, Tuesday night
 
6:00 pm - Dr. Kariya is first to observe emergent situation.  He writes, "Breathing tenuous, pulse oximetry down...Patient remains tenuous and son remains unrealistic.  No new suggestions."
 
- Isn't Dr. Kariya obligated to "suggest" intubation or tracheotomy for the
  tenuous breathing?  Instead, Dr. Kariya disappears.  Can he do that?
 
8:30 pm - Previously uninvolved resident called in by me.
Spoke with Rabbi Anemer who told him Jewish law mandated intubation.
 
- Why did I call resident into the room?
- Why did resident call Rabbi Anemer?
- WHY NO INTUBATION?


-
Text Box
Patient abandonment
Dr. Kariya finds full-code patient in respiratory distress.
 
He documents irreconcilable difference with family, yet fails to provide needed life-sustaining treatment, or to withhold it as medically ineffective pursuant to state law and hospital policy.  He simply walks away!

-
Text Box
"Contacted Dr. Shamim and discussed possibility of intubation.  ICU doctor covering & Dr. Kariya was also consulted and agrees at this point will readdress code status (due to poor prognosis).  Will also keep patient on 100% NRB and suction PRN."
 
- What did these doctors agree to?
- Was code status readdressed?
- Who readdressed it?
- What was Israel Neustadter's code status?
- What about inbutation for respiratory distress?

-
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-
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-
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-
Text Box
Never "expressed."


-
Text Box
Stated repeatedly, resulting in resident's request to call rabbi.

-
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/hch_manual.pdf
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/hch_manual.pdf#page=5
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/HCDA_summary.pdf
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/HCDA_summary.pdf#page=3
-
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-
Text Box
Dr. Kariya fails to return as my father's condition is worsening.  I see a resident entering an elevator and plead for help.

-
Text Box
Rabbi Anemer testified he told doctor that Jewish law required intubation to prolong life as much as possible, and it is what my father would want as well.  The doctor said he understood.
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-
Rectangle

-
Rectangle

-
Text Box
Dr. Kariya writes, "I hope the patient's final days are peaceful, as opposed to being suctioned/intubated or getting CPT."
 
- Touching sentiment, but with yellow-green tenacious
  secretions and a white count of 37.6 how about some
  antibiotic?  The patient is not dead yet.
 
- If aspiration suspected why isn't tracheotomy suggested?
 
- No conversation whatsoever with family about intubation.*
 
Dr. Kariya is clearly aware of chasm between his hopes and family's wishes for treatment, yet fails to honor family's wishes.

-
Rectangle

an
Text Box
March 26, Wednesday morning
 
Dr. Kariya writes, "Called stat to see patient in respiratory distress by son."
 
Why did I call Dr. Kariya into the room?

-
Line

an
Text Box
Dr. Kariya testified that he didn't think intubation would be curative, and he thought that by suctioning the patient "he did not require intubation at that time." (!)
 
Dr. Kariya testified that he knew patient's status was full-code.

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/kariya-intubation-testimony.pdf
an
Text Box
According to Delmarva Foundation
Quality Concern Inquiry, it is "unclear" if it was actually the son's choice not to suction or intubate.
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/Delmarva_Kariya_5-1-06.pdf
al
Text Box
* According to Holy Cross Hospital brief neither Dr.Kariya nor Dr. Weiner
   believed reintubation was in Israel Neustadter's "best interests" and accordingly
   "never recommended" this course of treatment for him (in other words they
   made the decision to euthanize without the informed consent of family).

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/appellee-brief-3-20-09-intubation.pdf
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/6-4-08_kariya_full-code.pdf
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-
Text Box
March 26, Wednesday, late afternoon
 
Falsified record
Dr. Shamim writes, "Called Dr. Kariya," when in truth he handed patient off to Dr. Weiner - of whom there is no record.  Dr. Weiner refused my plea for intubation, telling me that my father was "dead the day he got here" as the two of them walked away.  Can the doctors really get away with this?
 
Full-code patient in acute respiratory distress.  ICU consult and ABG test suggest intubation was under consideration.  What became of the consult and the test?  No nursing notes of substance.  Why wasn't my father intubated?  Can the hospital really get away with this?
 
Patient abandonment
Dr. Weiner's presence and his abandonment of my father confirmed by trial testimony.  Dr. Shamim admits to handing over all care to Dr. Weiner. 
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/trial/6-4-08-shamim-weiner.pdf
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/6-4-08-shamim_trial_excerpts.pdf#page=19
-
Text Box
What was Dr. Mayo's input?
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-
Text Box
Falsified record
Dr. Shamim testified that he did not discuss code status or the issue of intubation with son.
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/6-4-08-shamim_trial_excerpts.pdf#page=9
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-
Text Box
Why are final 3 pages of physician progress notes missing the hospital identification stamp?  Were they rewritten to hide Dr. Weiner's presence on March 26 and to cover up the withholding of treatment?  

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/nawaz-shamim-kariya-excerpts-code-status.pdf
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Text Box
March 26, Wednesday, late afternoon
 
Falsified record
Dr. Shamim writes, "Call results to Dr. Weiner or Dr. Steve Kariya," when Dr. Weiner was with him the entire time and was handed the results in his presence.  There were no calls to anyone.



Holy Cross Hospital 

From: 10-Mar-2003 at 13:55 
To: 27-Mar-2003 at 18:51 

Progress Notes 
03/25 19:50 -- Continued from previous page -

will follow plan of care. 
03/26 11: 29 Pastoral Care Y. Louis Hicks, Chaplain 

Follow up visit with son. He was concerned about the need for his 
father to be suctioned. Passed information on to Nurse and Social 
Worker handling patient's care. Offered words of encouragement 
and support for son. 

13 :03 Secretions John Robinson, RN 
Problem: Impaired Gas Exchange 
pt suctiond prn with little results. pt placed on 100% 
nonrebreathing mask and is sating >94%. pt's son informed that the 
secretions are to deep to suction and pt needs to cough to bring 
secretions up further. 

03/27 09:30 Tests/Procedures Denise L. Johnston, RN 

pt ordered labs and xray. son refused any treatment. Dr. Weiner 
on floor and made aware. Dr. Weiner in to see pt and was asked to 
leave by pt son. orders to stop all treatment and to give 
morphine only for comfort witnessed by 2 nurses Denise Johnston 
and Elaine Warren. cont to monitor 

13 :08 Rhythm & Character Elaine Warren, R.N 
Problem: Impaired Airway Clearance 
resp labored entire shift but 02 sat wnl 02 sat began decreasing 
as charted sx. 02 checked and dr. aware and 
present at the time. pt. refused cxr and all preventative 
care. statement via son verified c another team member.pt.s 
son refused all care not pt as stated above. dr. notified 
and pa11itive care started stat morphine 3mgm. admin s.q 
as ordered. son acting very bizzare and confused stating 
dont do anything else for my father. then later stating 
no call anew dr. i want everything done pastoral c. 
called forsupport,psych nurse. h.o spoke c son and made 
comfort. as poss. pt. made comf. as poss. also care and 
vis as charted. 

14: 00 Summary Denise L. Johnston, RN 

pt dying and son in room at bedside with caregiver. son refused 
any treatment for pt. witnessed by Elaine Warren RN and Denise 
Johnston RN. pt expired and pronounced by Dr. Fadu1 at 215 pm 
pastoral care notified and went to room. Dr. Fadu1 to notify 
attending 

18:19 Discharge Note Wullaimatu Kamara, RN 

Pt expired today.Body picked up by Torchinsky morgue company. Son 
remained at the bedside till pick up arrived. Wrapped in a plain 
sheet of cloth per Jewish laws. 

0000815510 M 14-Apr-1911 Age: 91 

I MT 

NEUSTADTER, ISRAEL Wt: 61.900Kg 

Admit Physician: NAWAZ AHMED MD At tending: NAWAZ AHMED MD 

Printed: 06-May-2003 at 09:33 
Page 17 of 17 

Holy Cross Hospital 

Progress Notes 

Chart Copy 

Requested by: 
WHITLV 
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an
Text Box
What was the plan of care?  When did it change?

an
Text Box
10:15 am
 
Nurse Elaine Warren and Nomeda witness Dr. Weiner's refusal to return to room.
 
Hospital manager Elise Reilly and chaplain Susan Mitchell "try" to get any other doctor available into room but "can't find one."

an
Text Box
Refused what sort of preventative care?
Without intubation what care was being offered?
Without intubation what outcome was being prevented?

an
Text Box
From Nurses Notes

-
Rectangle

-
Text Box
Precise time was 9:50 am

-
Line

al
Highlight

al
Highlight

al
Line

al
Text Box
March 26, Wednesday
 
No nursing notes of substance on day when:
 
- Full-code patient develops acute respiratory
  distress and status degrades to critical.
 
- Attending physician turns care over to a
  "nonexistent" pulmonologist and leaves hospital.
 
- Surrogate purportedly decides to withhold
  treatment from his previously recovering father.

al
Highlight

al
Line

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/6-4-08-shamim_trial_excerpts.pdf#page=19
al
Line

an
Text Box
Refused what kind of treatment?
Without intubation what treatment was on the table?
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an
Text Box
Palliative care started < 1 hour before death.  What was the level of care prior to this time?

al
Line
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-
Text Box
March 27, Thursday, 8:50 am
 
Breathing collapses, pulse oximetry alarms.  I am praying, holding my father's hand, Nomeda holds his feet.  Nobody comes to help us despite repeated calls to nurses station.
 
According to the Medical Director of Critical Care, Nursing probably knew that additional life support measures were not planned for my father!
 
Portable X-Ray enters at exactly 9:50 am, followed by Dr. Weiner.

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/hch_9-27-04.pdf#page=2
-
Text Box
Falsified Record
Dr. Weiner writes, "Case discussed with son.  He does not wish any other treatment (x-rays, vent etc.)  He wishes to be alone with his father while he dies."
 
Dr. Weiner fails to reference his undocumented visit the previous afternoon - during which he categorically refused my wish that my father be placed on a ventilator, explaining "We don't just intubate any time somebody asks."

al
Line

al
Line

al
Line

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/6-4-08-shamim_trial_excerpts.pdf#page=19
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-
Text Box
12:00 pm (actual time was 10:00 am)
 
Patient Abandonment 
"Patient's son requested to talk to PMD & discuss further DNR considerations.  He stated that he felt he was unclear in his request and that he wanted more done for his father."
 
- Previously recovering patient still very much alive.
 
- No doctor ever returns to "clarify" matters with son.
 
- Patient allowed to die despite designation as a "candidate for intubation,"
  despite lack of Certificate of Condition authorizing withholding of treatment,
  and despite obvious indication that family is not on-board with "plan of care."

-
Line

-
Line

-
Line

-
Line

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/dnr.pdf
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/hch_cert_of_condition.pdf
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• • • • 
Holy Cross Hospital 

Mon Mar 17, 2003 11:20 am 

• 
Cumulative Trend Report from 03/05/03 1215 to 03/17/03 0640 

Patient Name: NEUSTADTER,ISRAEL 
Unit #: 815510 
Location: ICU ICU 07 
Phys-Service: NAWAZ, AHMED-MEDICAL 

Hematology-Pqge 5 
Adm: 03/10/03 

Acct #: M0306900162 Previous Accounts Included 
*************'******************************************************************* 

Date: 
Time: 

WB~ 
RBC 
Hemoglobin 
Hct 
MCV 
MCH 
MCHC 
RDW 
Platelet,Auto 
MPV 

AUTO DIFF 
Lymph % 
Mono % 
Neut % 
Eos % 
Baso % 
Lymphocytes 
Monocytes 
Neutrophils 
Eosinophils 
Basophils 

MANUAL DIFF 
Bands 
Segs 
Lymphs 
Mono 
Meta 

CELL MORPH 
RBC Morp 
PIt Est 

HEM A T 0 LOG Y PRO F I L E (Cant) 

03/11 
0635 

20.7 H 
3.01 L 
10.4 L 
29.6 L 
98.2 H 
34.5 H 
35.2 
12.3 

211. 
8.34 

1.96 L 
1.13 L 
96.3 H 

.180 
.388 L 
.406 L 

.235 
20.0 H 

.037 

.080 
-------

23 &H 
72 &H 

2 &L 
1 & 
2 & 

:/4 & 
# & 

03/10 
1204 

38.5 HP 
3.14 L 
10.7 L 
30.6 L 
97.4 
34.2 
35.1 
11.6 

311 
7.3 L 

2.96 L 
6.43 

89.6 H 
.319 
.726 

1.14 L 
2.47 H 
34.5 H 

.123 
.279 H 

-------------~---------------
18 &H 
75 &H 

3 &L 
4 & 

- - - -- - - - -- - - - - -
:/4 & 
# & 

Normal Range 

3.6-10.8 
4.73-5.61 
13.0-16.9 
38.0-48.6 
80.5-97.6 
27.3-34.3 
33.0-36.1 
11.5-14.5 
140-440 
8.0-12.0 

23.6-57.9 
2.0-10.0 
42.0 75.0 
0.0-1,0.0 
0.5 2.,0 
1.2-3.4 
0.11-0.59 
1.4-6.5 
0.0-0.7 
0.0-0.2 

0-8 
35 65 
25 45 
0-8 

(K/mm3 ) 
(M/mm3 ) 
(gm/dl) 
(%) 
(fl) 
(pg) 
(%) 

(K/mm3 ) 
(f 1) 

(%) 
(%) 
(%) 
(%) 
(%) 
(K/mm3 ) 
(K/mm3) 
(K/mm3 ) 
(K/mm3) 
(K/mm3 ) 

(%) 
(% ) 
(%) 
(%) 
(%) 

- - - - - Specific Comments - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
03/16/03 0345 CBC,AUTOMATED DIFF-RBC Morp: Normal *&* 
03/16/03 0345 CBC,AUTOMATED DIFF-Plt Est: Consistent with instrument count *&* 
03/15/03 0345 CBC,AUTOMATED DIFF-RBC Morp: Slight Anisocytosis, Poikilocytosis 

*&* 
03/15/03 0345 CBC,AUTOMATED DIFF-Plt Est: Consistent with instrument count *&* 

Continued next page 

***** DO NOT DISCARD ***** NEUSTADTER,ISRAEL 
L=LOW H=HIGH P=PANIC &=ADDENDUM C=CORRECTED (M-04/14/11) 
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High wbc throughout hospitalization elicits no concern for underdosing, no infectious disease consult.  It finally jumps to 43k and my father goes into acute respiratory distress.
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No hematology on 3/17
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• • • 
Holy Cross Hospital 

Thu Mar 27, 2003 10:04 pm 

• • 
Discharge Cumulative Trend Report from 03/23/03 1145 to 03/27/03 0530 

Patient Name: 
Med Rec #: 

NEUSTADTER,ISRAEL 
815510 

Hematology-Page 2 
Adm: 03/10/03 

s Date 
Phys-Service: 

03/27/03 
NAWAZ,AHMED - MEDICAL 

******************************************************************************* 

HEM A T 0 LOG Y PRO F I L E 

Date: 
Time: 

03/27 
0530 

03/26 
0650 

03/25 
0615 Normal Range ' 

WBC 
RBC 
Hemoglobin 
Hct 
MCV 
MCH 
MCHC 
RDW 
Platelet,Auto 
MPV 

AUTO DIFF 
Lymph % 
Mono % 
Neut % 
80S % 
Baso % 
Lymphocytes 
\1onocytes 
:-:reutrophils 
E:osinophils 
3asophils 

MANUAL DIFF 
3ands 
3egs 
:"ymphs 
'lono 
'lyelocyte 

CELL MORPH 
mc Morp 
vBC Morp 
1 L E~t 

43.1 HP 
3.28 L 
10.5 L 
32.9 L 

100. H 
32.0 
31. 9 L 
14.0 

521. H 
9.18 

5.53 L 
7.59 

86.8 H 
.069 

.042 L 
2.38 

3.27 H 
37.4 H 

.030 

.018 

17 &H 
73 &H 

2 &L 
7 & 
1 & 

--------

# & 

t; /:, 

37.6 HP 
3.67 L 
10.9 L 
35.7 L 
97.2 
29.9 
30.7 L 
12.6 

609. H 
8.92 

6.85 L 
5.95 

86.6 H 
.382 

.191 L 
2.57 

2.24 H 
32.5 H 

~143 
.072 

17 &H 
69 &H 
10 &L 

4 & 

--------
# & 
# & 
:F, (, 

18.1 H 
3.29 L 
10.3 L 
32.1 L 
97.7 H 
31.2 
32.0 L 
12.6 

525. H 
8.92 

12.5 L 
12.2 H 
72.3 

2.65 
.355 L 
2.27 

2.20 H 
13.1 H 

.480 

.064 

------ ---_ .... - --_ ..... _-- -

3.6-10.8 
4.73-5.61 
13.0-16.9 
38.0-48.6 
80.5-97.6 
27.3-34.3 
33.0-36.1 
11.5 14.5 
140-440 
8.0-12.0 

23.6 57.9 
2.0-10.0 
42.0 75.0 
0.0 10.0 
0.5-2.0 
1.2-3.4 
0.11 0.59 
1.4-6.5 
0.0 0.7 
0.0 0.2 

0 8 
35-65 
25-45 
0-8 

- - Specific Comments - - - - - - - -
DIFF RBC Morp: Normal *&* 

(K/mm3 ) 
(M/mm3) 
(gm/dl)· 
(% ) 
( fl) 
(pg) 
(% ) 

(K/mm3 ) 
(fl) 

(%) 
(% ) 
(% ) 
(% ) 
(%) 
(K/mm3 ) 
(K/mm3 ) 
(K/mm3 ) 
(K/mm3 ) 
(K/mm3) 

(% ) 
(% ) 
(% ) 
(% ) 
(%) 

)3/27/03 0530 CBC,AUTOMATED 
)3/27/03 0530 CBC,AUTOMATED 
)3/26/03 0650 CBC,AUTOMATED 

DIFF-Plt Est: Consistent with instrument count *&* 
DIFF-RBC Morp: Slight Hypochromia, Moderate 

Continued next page 

NEUSTADTER,ISRAEL 
,=LOW H=HIGH P=PANIC &=ADDENDUM C=CORRECTED 815510 

* DO NOT DISCARD ** 
ischarge Cumulative Trend Report 

(M 04/14/11) 
Dr. NAWAZ,AHMED 
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• • • • • 
Holy Cross Hospital 

Mon Mar 24, 2003 11:15 am 
Cumulative Trend Report from 03/10/03 2120 to 03/24/03 0500 

Patient Name: 
Unit #: 
.Location: 
Phys-Service: 

" NEUSTADTER,ISRAEL 
815510 
IMC 6231 02 

Send Outs Page 8 
Adm: 03/10/03 

Acct #: 
NAWAZ , AHMED-MEDICAL 
M039 6900162 Previous Accounts Included 

****************************************************** *************************~ 
In: 03/20/03 0531 --- -- --- --- Spec: Blood 
Out: 03/23/03 1017 I PREALBUMIN(TRANSTHYRETIN) Techs: V14796' T6248 
ColI Time: 03/20/03 0345-- --------- ---
Order Phys: NAWAZ,AHMED [M0306900162/5470119] 

Result Name Result 

. Prealbumin,serum(mg/dl) : 7.5 L 

Re rred to: ARUP (1507) 
500 Chipeta Way 
Salt Lake City, Utah 84108 

In: 03/17/03 0623 - - - --- ---
Out: 03/19/03 0611 PREALBUMIN(TRANSTHYRETIN) 
ColI Time: 03/17/03 0400- --- --- --- -- --- --­
Order Phys: NAWAZ,AHMED 

Result Nal}1e 

Prealbumin,serum(mg/dl) : 

Result 

3.8 L 

Referred to:, ARUP (1507) 
500 Chipeta Way 

In: 03/10/03 2202 
Out: 03/24/03 0657 
ColI Time: 03/10/03 2120 
Order Phys: NAWAZ,AHMED 

Resu t NamE 

Test Name: 
Result: 
Normal Range: 

Salt Lake City, Utah 84108 

I MISC SEND OUT ! 

*STAT*STAT*STAT* 
Resli 1 t 

Brain Natriuretic Peptide 
321 pg/mL 
29 or less pg/mL 

Referred to: American Medical Laboratory 
14225 Newbrook Drive 
Chantilly, Virginia 22021 

Re rence Range 

20.0 40.0 

Spec: Blood 
Techs: VRN T3155 

[M0306900162/5466226] 

Reference Range 

20.0-40.0 

Spec: Blood 
Techs: V12270 T507 

[M0306900162/5456765] 

~**** DO NOT DISCARD ***** NEUSTADTER,ISRAEL 
~=LOW H=HIGH P=PANIC &=ADDENDUM C=CORRECTED (M-04/14/11) 
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Text Box
Nutrition recommended at March 14 consult is not delivered for almost 3 more days.  Prealbumin sinks to 3.8 mg/dl, indicative of starvation.

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/consult-report-gi.pdf
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/prealbumin.pdf
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/consult-report-gi.pdf
-
Text Box
Friday, March 14
- Dr. Nawaz fails to order nutrition per consult recommendation.
- Nurses fail to note lack of nutrition.  Patient provided no food since March 11.
 
Saturday, March 15
- Hospital fails to submit this PPN order, resulting in an additional 24-hour delay.
 
Sunday, March 16
- PICC line placement ordered for Central TPN, but PA on call has no PICC line
  insertion experience so procedure delayed until Monday.
- Hospital alters date on this Saturday PPN order from 3/15 to 3/16 and submits.
 
- PPN doesn't arrive until Sunday night at 8:00 pm, 58 hours after first recommended.
- TPN doesn't arrive until Monday night at 8:00 pm.  Six days without food.
  Prealbumin sinks to 3.8 mg/dl (reference=20-40 mg/dl) indicative of starvation.

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/nurses-prog-notes-picc-line.pdf
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Undated order likely placed on Monday, March 17, when central line access was finally provided after 6 days without food.
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• HOLY CROSS HOSPITAL 

PATIENT: Neustadter, Israel 
ACCOUNT #: 0306900162 
CONSULTANT: Jay H Weiner, MD 
ATTENDING: Ahmed Nawaz, MD 

MR #: 00815510 
PT TYPE: lIP 
ROOM: IMC616762 t (!)J .- 0 I 
DISCH DATE: 

PULMONARY CONSULTATION REPORT 

DATE OF ADMISSION: 03/10/2003 

DATE OF CONSULTATION: 03/11/2003 

This patient is a 91-year-old male who was last in his norJ;l1al state of health three days prior 
to admission. At that time he fell at home, striking his head. Over the next two days, he 
began to have increasing weakness. On the day prior to admission he had a fever or 101. On 
the day of admission he was found to be hypotensive, with a blood pressure of 60 systolic in 
Dr. Nawaz's office and he was sent to the emergency room. 

On arrival to the hospital, his chest x-ray has shown left lower lobe infiltrate and a small 
pleural effusion, blunting of the right costophrenic angle. His initial white count was 38,000, 
and I have been asked to evaluate. 

The patient's past medical history is significant for dementia. He has hypertension and has a 
Zenker's diverticulum. He has recently been placed on Dyazide, which has caused severe 
hyponatremia, but this re~ponded with removal of the Dyazide. He also has a history of 
pacemaker placement. 

PHYSICAL EXAMINATION: On physical examination, he is a well-developed, well­
nourished male, who is lethargic and confused. Head, ears, eyes, nose and throat examination 
is within normal limits. There is no palpable lymphadenopathy or subcutaneous emphysema. 
His lungs revealed some crackles at the left base. Cardiac examination was without an 83 or 
rub. His abdomen was without organomegaly or masses and soft. His extremities were 
without edema. 

His sodium was 132, potassium 3.4, initial white count was 38,000 and repeat was 20,700, 
hematocrit 29.6. 

IMPRESSION: 
This patient presents with aspiration pneumonia and sepsis. He has a Zenker's diverticulum 
and this is probably the cause of his aspiration. He does have dementia that has worsened by 
septic encephalopathy, history of hypertension, history of pacemaker placement and recent 
hyponatremia, secondary to Dyazide. 

Medical Records Department 
ORIGINAL COPY 
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• Page 2 of2 
Neustadter, Israel MR #: 00815510 

CONSULTATION REPORT 

At this time, I recommend giving him intravenous Levaquin and Rocephin. He will need 
intravenous hydration. 

I have addressed his "code status" with his son for a lengthy period of time. His son will 
consult his rabbi to help him make a decision. 

He will need a barium swallow when he stabilizes. 

D: 03/1112003 
T: 0311112003 4:07 P 
JHW/ksw 
Doc #: 337000 
cc: Ahmed Nawaz, MD 

Jay H Weiner, MD 

Signed 
Jay H Weiner, MD 03/20/2003 12:35 

Jay H Weiner, MD 

Medical Records Department 
ORJGINAL COpy 
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• HOLY CROSS HOSPITAL 

PATIENT: Neustadter, Israel 
ACCOUNT #: 0306900162 
CONSULT ANT: Alan S Chanales, MD 
ATTENDING: Ahmed Nawaz, MD 

• 
MR#: 00815510 
PTTYPE: lIP 
ROOM: IMC61 0702 
DISCH DATE: 03/1112003 

SECOND-OPINION PULMONARY CONSULTATION REPORT 

DATE OF ADMISSION: 03110/2003 

DATE OF CONSULtATION: 0311112003 

I was asked to render a second pulmonary opinion on this patient, who was admitted 
yesterday. 

He is a 91-year-old demented patient, who is confused at home, but who goes to synagogue 
twice a day and carries long conversations and walks independently. Sometime ago, the 
patient developed an increase in his blood pressure and Vasotec was increased to 10 mg and 
he began having tightness in his chest, diagnosed in the emergency room as angioedema 
reaction and the Vasotec was stopped and he was placed on some Dyazide, which in the past 
caused hyponatremia. Indeed, the patient became rather profoundly hyponatremic, but was 
not hospitalized at the time, was taken off the Dyazide, was given an increase in his Cardura, 
which he was taking for prostatism. It was some ,time after that that the patient displayed 
some degree of confusion, got up in the middle of the night and started walking arourtd and 

I 

fell down striking his lip and his head, but without apparent injury, although he was 
somewhat more confused than usual. 

When he was brought into Dr. Nawaz's office, he was found to have a systolic blood 
pressure of about 60 and was sent to the hospital. By the time they lay him down and gave 
him some fluids, his blood pressure came up to around 100, but the patient was still admitted. 
He was found to have a sodium of 132, potassium 3.4, blood urea nitrogen 29 and creatinine 
1.2 and the white blood count reportedly was 40,000, but I can not find that result in the chart 
or on the computer. Urinalysis was unremarkable, with 0-2 white cells. 

The son seemed to get some degree of different opinions about the patient's status from Dr. 
Nawaz and Dr. Weiner, with the latter being more pessimistic about his chances of recovery, 
and he wanted some corroborating opinion. 

In the interim, the patient has been hydrated, with the blood urea nitrogen going down to 9, 
and his white count today was 20,000 with a hemoglobin of about 10, and the patient does 
run a chronic anemia. Blood pressure was running about 125170. His temperature was only 
about 100 degrees today. On two liters, his oxygen saturation was about 98 earlier, but this 
evening his oxygen saturation went down low into the 80s ,and a blood gas showed a p02 of 

Medical Records Department 
ORIGINAL COPY 
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• • Page 2 of3 
Neustadter, Israel MR #: 00815510 

CONS'ULTATION REPORT 

44 on 100% nonrebreather mask. He was switched to a high-flow oxygen cannula at 100% 
and his oxygen saturations were in the 88 to 92% range. 

Also of note is that the patient has had a Zenker's diverticulum for many years, but does not 
seem to have much trouble from it. 

ALLERGIES: Sulfa. 

PAST MEDICAL HISTORY: Dementia, hypertension, Zenker's diverticulum, prostatism 
and pacemaker placement. 

SOCIAL HISTORY: Nonsmoker and nondrinker. He lives with his son. He has not been 
hospitalized before. 

REVIEW OF SYSTEMS: Unobtainable from the patient. 

PHYSICAL EXAMINATION: Vital signs are as above. The patient is awake and 
responsive, although confused. Mucous membranes and skin are dry. No neck vein distention 
at 30 degrees, thyromegaly or bruits. Lungs: There is bronchophony at the left lower base 
posteriorly, but no wheezes or rhonchi are heard. The patient was not coughing during my 
attendance on the patient. Heart: No murmur, rub, gallop or click. Abdomen: Normal bowel 
sounds, soft, nontender; no hepatosplenomegaly, masses or bruits. Extremities: No alubbing, 
cyanosis, edema, tenderness, redness or cords. 

IMPRESSION: 
1. Falling episode secondary to hypotension. 
2. Hypotension, secondary to dehydration from recent Dyazide as well as possible 

development of sepsis. 
3. Sepsis, could be coming from an aspiration pneumonia or from possible sinusitis as 

seen on the CT of the head, which was otherwise unremarkable for trauma-related 
issues. 

4. Hypoxemia, secondary to developing pneumonia in the left lower lobe, to be 
confirmed on chest x-ray. Another consideration would be the development of fluid 
overload from the patient's fluid resuscitation. 

5. Pneumonia, certainly could be aspiration secondary to his recent change in mental 
status with hyponatremia, in conjunction with his long-standing Zenker's 
diverticulum. 

6. Underlying dementia, but a reasonable quality of life for the patient and without any 
really serious medical problems. 

Medical Records Department 
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Page 3 of3 
Neustadter, Israel MR#: 00815510 

CONSULTATION REPORT 

PLAN: 
1. Intravenous fluids to be adjusted now that the patient has been rehydrated. 
2. Antibiotics as ordered, Levaquin and Rocephin. 
3. High-flow oxygen. 
4. If necessary, the patient will be intubated and put on mechanical ventilation according 

to the son's wishes as well as the instructions of his rabbi. We had a long discussion 
about the issues involved in making this decision, including - b~t not limited to - th~ 
multiple complications. that often care in elderly patients placed on the ventilator, 
leading to an insoluble situation, with the patient stuck,on the ventilator. 

5. The issue of resuscitation was discussed with the son, who for the moment will press 
ahead with a "full code" situation, even though J to1d him that the result of such 
therapeutic action is often death or, worse, vegetative state. 

D: 03/1112003 
T: 03/11/2003 8:54 P, 
ASC/ksw 
Doc #: 337039 
cc: Alan S Chanales, MD 

I 

Ahmed Nawaz, MD 
Jay H Weiner, MD 

Alan S Chanales, MD 
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HOLY CROSS HOSPITAL 

PA TIENT: Neustadter, Israel 
ACCOUNT #: 0306900162 
CONSULTANT: Milton J Koch, MD 
ATTENDING: Ahmed Nawaz, MD 

MR #: 00815510 
PT TYPE: lIP 
ROOM: ICUICU 07 
DISCH DATE: 

CONSULTATION REPORTIGI 

DATE OF ADMISSION: 03110/2003 

DATE OF CONSULTATION: 03114/2003 

REASON FOR CONSULTATION: Evaluation for nutritional support in this intubated, 
sedated, 91-year-old gentleman. 

The history is obtained from the record as well as discussions with Dr. N awaz, the house 
staff, and the patient's son at the bedside since the patient is on a propofol drip. 

The patient was admitted on 311 0103 following significant volume depletion because of labile 
responses to antihypertensive medications which resulted in a fall and an injury. He was 
fluid resuscitated and over the next several days in the hospital was noted to have a probable 
pneumonic process and was given intravenous antibiotics with oxygen support but he 
became progressively and acutely hypoxic requiring intubation. In addition he was quite 
agitated when attempting to insert a central line through the femoral which was therefore not 
done. 

Of significance in terms of any nutritional evaluation is the fact that the son states that he has 
a long history of Zenker's diverticulum which was recognized many years ago. Reportedly 
an esophagogram was done within the last several years but the patient's son does not 
remember where other than confirming the Zenker's. In addition, Dr. Barry Rubin 
reportedly endoscoped him for a possible GI bleed about four years ago and prior to the 
endoscopy was not aware of the Zenker's according to the son and Dr. Rubin admitted that 
tllf t'ndosro),:-: wa~ quitE' ciiffirult. Tllereafter}lf ww 101d of tlw Zcnl\er·~ anci understooc1 
why. The patient was started on a proton pump inhibitor in the last couple of years and some 
of his swallowing difficulties improved but were still transiently problematic with liquid 
regurgitation spontaneously in the midst of a meal on occasions. 

PAST MEDICAL HISTORY: Mild dementia, but he was going to synagogue daily and 
was able to be independent otherwise. Pacemaker placement. 

MEDICATIONS: Medications have included Dyazide which resulted in hyponatremia, 
Vasotec which resulted in an allergic reaction, Cardura which he was using for BPH. 
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Page 2 of3 
Neustadter, Israel MR #: 00815510 

CONSUL TA TION REPORT 

ALLERGIES: Sulfa drugs. 

SOCIAL HISTORY: Nonsmoker, nondrinker, living with his son. 

REVIE'V OF SYSTEMS: Not available whatsoever. 

PHYSICAL EXAMINATION: The patient is an intubated gentleman on a Diprivan drip 
with vital signs stable and no other significant findings. 

LABORA TORY DATA: White blood cell count elevated to 40,000 initially, has come 
down to about 20,000. Chest x-ray has shown abnormalities with infiltrates. Electrolytes are 
remarkable for hyponatremia corrected. Electrocardiogram showed pacemaker artifact 
controlling his rhythm. 

IMPRESSION: 

1. Aspiration pneumonia - intubated on Diprivan. 
2. History of Zenker's diverticulum, resulting in increased risk of # 1. 
3. History of dementia. 
4. Recent volume depletion. 
5. Electrolyte abnormality. 
6. Pacemaker insertion. 
7. Prostatism. 

PLAN: 

1. At the bedside I had a very lengthy discussion with the patient's son regarding his 
nutritional status which was the main reason for my consultation. 

2. I explained to the son that for the short term, nutritional compromise is not relevant but 
not knmvin? how Ion? the patient would he intuhated. (In intermediary ster would h(' 
appropnate. 

3. Although I explained to the son that using the 01 tract was the primary goal in all patients 
who have a functioning gut, given the difficulty with the Zenker's tube (and the failed 
attempt by nurses on a couple of occasions yesterday to place an NO tube -
understandably so), no reasonable attempt should be made by me. The patient questioned 
why I could not do it and I explained to him that with the presence of known Zenker's 
and the attendant cricopharyngeal achalasia, my expertise would not improve any 
possibility of passing this tube safely. The only recommended approach would be to 
have the patient go to X-Ray and have a guidewire-assisted passage. I felt that this was 
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Page 3 of 3 
Neustadter, Israel MR#: 00815510 

CONSULTATION REPORT 

grossly inappropriate given the fact that this would be an "elective" procedure in a patient 
who is intubated on a Diprivan drip to require sedation for adequate ventilator SLlPPOrt. 

4. I did not think that TPN was reasonable at this early stage of his hospitalization given its 
need to closely monitor electrolytes and its expense. 

5. I thought a fair compromise, if he was to have a central line, was to use Procalamine and 
Intralipid - this was discussed with the hOLlse officer as well. Therefore. this is my 
recommendation. 

We will continue to monitor with you for support and further decisions as appropriate. 

Thank you once again. 

D: 03114/2003 
T: 03115/2003 7:36 A 
MJKlmkn 
Doc #: 337661 
cc: Alan S Chanales, MD 

Milton J Koch, MD 
Ahmed N awaz, MD 
Jay H Weiner, MD 

Milton J Koch, MD 
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Recommended nutrition was not delivered for almost 3 more days.  My father's prealbumin sank to 3.8 mg/dl, indicative of starvation.
 
Was it really a fair compromise?
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HOLY CROSS HOSPITAL 

PATIENT: N eustadter, Israel 
ACCOUNT #: 0306900162 
SURGEON: Alan Diamond, MD 
ASSISTANT: 

OPERA TIVE REPORT 

DATE OF PROCEDURE: 03/2112003 

MR #: 00815510 
PT TYPE: lIP 
ROOM: IMC623102 
DISCH DATE: 

PROCEDURE PERFORMED: 
endoscopic gastrostomy. 

Esophagogastroduodenoscopy with percutaneous 

PRE OPERA TIVE DIAGNOSIS: 
pulmonary aspiration. 

I 

Pharyngeal dysphagia, Zenker's diverticula and 

POSTOPERA TIVE DIAGNOSIS: Pharyngeal dysphagia, Zenker's diverticula and 
pulmonary aspiration with possible choledochoduodenostomy. 

INDICATIONS FOR PROCEDURE: Endoscopy with percutaneous endoscopic 
gastrostomy placement was performed at the son's request because of the patient's recurring 
aspiration pneumonia and inability to swallow food safely. Nutritional support has been 
difficult because of a large Zenker's diverticulum which lessened the ability to pass a NG 
feeding tube. 

DESCRIPTION OF PROCEDURE: The patient was sedated by the anesthesiologist. No 
oropharyngeal sedation was given. The Olympus videoscope was used. Blood pressure, 
electrocardiogram and pulse oximetry were monitored throughout. 

The endoscopy revealed a lot of thick debris encrustation in the posterior pharynx and upper 
esophagus. The endoscopy was extremely difficult, initial intubation passed the scope into 
the Zenker's diverticulum which was filled with old food debris. Subsequently, a large 
amount of adherent debris was suctioned from the oropharynx. Respirations improved after 
doing so. Ailer multiple attempts, the scope was passed under VIsual guidance down into the 
esophageal lumen which was opening towards the right side of the posterior pharynx. The 
Zenker's seemed to open more so on the left. The opening to the Zenker's was relatively 
large. Once traversing the upper sphincter, the scope passed easily into the distal esophagus. 
Interestingly, the LAS was rather tight but the scope popped through without great difficulty. 
Retroflexed view of the gastroesophageal junction was normal. The stomach appeared 
entirely normal. The pylorus was normal. The duodenal bulb appeared normal. In the 
posterior bulb, there was a small opening through which the scope would not pass. There 
was also angulation in that area and I couldn't pass the scope further. It was unclear to me if 
this was a surgical defect of possible choledochoduodenostomy or if there was a post-bulbar 
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What son would request such a procedure, only to refuse his father ventilation 5 days later?
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OPERA TIVE REPORT 

stricture. There was no evidence of obstructive changes and no significant secretions in the 
stomach. 

Following the endoscopy, a percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy was placed. The abdomen 
was prepped with Betadine. 1 % Lidocaine was injected into the site selected in the midline. 
A 1 centimeter incision was made with a # 11 blade. A trocar was passed into the gastric 
lumen. The guide wire was passed through the trocar and was grasped endoscopically with a 
snare and pulled out through the mouth. A #20 French microinvasive percutaneous 
endoscopic gastrostomy tube was then passed over the guide wire and pulled out through the 
anterior abdominal wall. The tube was pulled until the mushroom portion was firmly snug 
against the anterior gastric wall. T-bar was placed externally to hold it securely in place. 
The patient tolerated the procedure reasonably well without complications. The patient is 
presently on antibiotic coverage. Tube feedings will begin tomorrow. 

D: 03/2112003 
T: 03/23/2003 8:41 A 
ADlccd 
Doc #: 338896 
cc: Alan Diamond, MD 

Ahmed N awaz, MD 
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HOLY CROSS HOSPITAL 

PATIENT: Neustadter, Israel 
ACCOUNT #: 0306900162 
ATTENDING: Ahmed Nawaz, MD 
DICTATED BY: Ahmed Nawaz, MD 

MR #: 00815510 
PT TYPE: liP 
ROOM: 

DISCHARGE SUMMARY 

DATE OF ADMISSION: 03/1012003 

DATE OF DISCHARGE: 03/2712003 

FINAL DIAGNOSES: Aspiration pneumonia; Sepsis; Multiple electrolyte imbalance; 
Difficulty swallowing; Large Zenker's diverticulum; Status post percutaneous endoscopic 
gastrostomy tube placement; Respiratory insufficiency leading to failure on ventilator for 
quite some time during his stay in the hospital. Mild to moderate dementia; Degenerative 
arthritis; Status post permanent pacemaker placement; Hypothyroidism 

CONSULTATION: Dr. Jay Weiner, pulmonary and critical care, Dr. Milton Koch, 
gastrointestinal, Dr. Chanales second opinion for pulmonary and critical care, Dr. Herman 
Segal cardiology 

HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS: The detailed histo and physical have already been 
dictated and will not be repeated here. 

This elderly gentleman was admitted to the hospital with uspected aspiration pneumonia and 
sepsis. He was initially kept in the telemetry unit. He as started on intravenous antibiotics 
along with minimal intravenous fluid support. We c ntinued the other medications on this 
patient except for the blood pressure mediations w ch he was taking at home because of 
hypotension. The very next day, the patient's con tion got worse and his respiratory status 
became decompensated. Pulmonary, who was aIr ady on the case, spoke with the patient's 
son about the code status standpoint because the atient was developing respiratory failure. 
He was intubated and was transferred to the Inte sive Care Unit for further management. 

His antibiotics were changed on numerous fferent occasions. We had a second opinion 
from Dr. Chanales who also had a long onversation with the patient's son about the 
patient's condition. The son's wishes we e to continue the aggressive measures on him. 
The patient was volume resuscitated. Ag essive suctioning was done in the Intensive Care 
Unit on this patient and secretions were uctioned on different occasions. The patient did 
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respond to a certain extent and was successfully ex ated some times. The patient's 
swallowing was very poor. He failed the swallo . g evaluation. We had a conversation 
with the patient's son again and he wishes pursue with a percutaneous endoscopic 
gastrostomy tube. The patient was 0 a nasogastric tube at the time. Finally, 
gastroenterology was consulted and some difficulty, the percutaneous endoscopic 
gastrostomy tube was placed. 

The patient stayed in the Inten . e Care Unit for a couple of weeks and was transferred down 
to the crc where the patie again developed aspiration and went into respiratory distress. 
The case was discussed Ith the patient's son by Dr. Sharnim, by Dr. Kariya on numerous 
different occasions. that time, the decision was made to continue the aggressive medical 
therapy but do not mtubate the patient again. We honored the patient's family wishes and 
on the 27th of reh, the patient was found to be unresponsive without any breathing, no 
pulse, no blo pressure and he was pronounced by the house staff. The patient expired due 
to respirat failure because of aspiration pneumonia and mUltiple other medical problems 
with sepsis. 

D: 06119/2003 
T: 0611912003 4:24 P 
AN/cn 
Doc #: 353992 
cc: Ahmed Nawaz, MD 

~.~Zr 1\~: 
Signed 
Ahmed Nawaz, MD 06129/2003 11 :28 

Ahmed Nawaz, MD 
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HOLY CROSS HOSPITAL 

PATIENT: Neustadter, Israel 
ACCOUNT #: 0306900162 
ATTENDING: Ahmed Nawaz, MD 
DICTATED BY: Ahmed Nawaz, MD 

DEATH SUMMARY 

DATE OF ADMISSION: 03110/2003 

DATE OF DEATH: 03127/2003 

MR #: 00815510 
PT TYPE: liP 
ROOM: 

Detailed history and physical has already been dictated, is part of the chart and will not be 
repeated here. 

This elderly gentleman was admitted to the hospital with aspiration pneumonia and with 
septicemia. He was started on intravenous antibiotics along with intravenous fluid support. 
The very next day the patient's respiratory condition became decompensated. Dr. Jay 
Weiner, who was already on the case, discussed with the patient at length the DNR status. 
The patient's son wanted to continue the aggressive measures and wanted to buy some time 
to talk with the rabbi. We honored the patient's family's wishes and the patient was intubated 
and was transferred to the Intensive Care Unit. 

The patient remained intubated for a few weeks. Aggressive suctioning was done. Multiple 
antibiotics were changed during the patient's stay in the Intensive Care Unit. Intravenous 
fluid resuscitation was given to the patient. Electrolyte imbalance was corrected during his 
stay in the Intensive Care Unit. 

The patient's nutritional status was poor. He was placed on total parenteral nutrition for a 
short term because it was hard for us to put in the nasogastric tube due to large Zenker's 
diverticulum. We had a conversation ,vith the patient's son about placing a PEG tube, which 
he considered to be done. Gastroenterology consultation was obtained from Dr. Milton Koch, 
who also had a conversation with the son at length about the patient's prognosis. Finally, 
decision was made to proceed with the PEG tube, which was done and PEG tube feedings 
were started. 

Eventually the patient was successfully extubated. Electrolytes seemed to be stable, but his 
swallowing evaluation was still not adequate. He was later transferred down to the CIC and 
slowly and gradually was started feeding and he was tolerating this relatively well. At the 
CIC, the patient again developed aspiration pneumonia and respiratory-wise became 
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1. History and Physical was not part of chart; it was dictated on 6/19/2003, almost 3 months after my father's death.
2. My father was admitted with community acquired pneumonia, not aspiration pneumonia.  No evidence of septicemia.
3. Why no mention of actual DNR status?  My father was unambiguously Full Code.
4. My father was intubated for 4 days.
5. No antibiotics were changed during my father's stay in ICU and throughout hospitalization, despite unrelentingly high white count.
6. My father was placed on peripheral parenteral nutrition after 5 days of starvation.
7. My father was never transferred down to the CIC; he was moved to the IMCU adjacent to the ICU, where life-sustaining treatment
    was withheld and he was allowed to die against his will.
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decompensated again. Dr. Shamim and Dr. Kariya had a long conversation with the son 
again for further management because the patient needed intubation at the time. The family 
decided not to intubate the patient and continue the aggressive medical therapy with 
suctioning. The care was provided, but on March 27, 2003, the patient was found to be 
unresponsive, without any breathing, no pulse, no blood pressure and he was pronounced by 
the house staff. The patient expired due to respiratory failure, because of aspiration 
pneumonia and multiple other medical problems with sepsis. 

D: 06/2512003 
T: 06/2512003 9:12 A 
ANlksw 
Doc #: 354855 
cc: Ahmed Nawaz, MD 

Signed 
Ahmed Nawaz, MD 0612912003 11 :28 

Ahmed Nawaz, MD 
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- Dr. Kariya testified that intubation was not needed at the time.
- According to Holy Cross Hospital intubation was never "recommended" for this patient.
- Dr. Nawaz now admits he had no basis for this statement (he made it up).
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   Dr. Nawaz pleaded guilty in 2013 to a charge of driving under the influence of alcohol.
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HOLY CROSS HOSPITAL 
Medical Records Department 
Phone: (301) 754-7180 Fax: (301) 754-7175 

July 14,2003 

Alexander Neustadter 
1111 University Bl· .. d. W. 
Apt. 405 
Silver Spring, MD 20902 

Re: Israel Neustadter 
DOB: 411411911 
Rec #: 815510 

Dear Mr. Neustadter: 

On July 7, 2003 you requested a copy of a detailed pharmacy printout of all 
dispensed medications on patient Israel Neustadter, medical record number 
815510. This type of report is not considered part of the medical record therefore; 
we are not able to honor your request. Attached you will find a copy of the 
Maryland Code, Health-General, 4-301, which defines the contents of a medical 
record. 

The type, dose, mode, and time of dispensed medications during a patients stay at 
the hospital can be located in the Medication Administration Record also known 
as the Kardex. This document can be found in the patient's medical record, 
copies of which were given to you on May 6, 2003. 

If you have any questions regarding the above matter, please call Sarah Shulman 
at the General Counsel's Office at (301) 754-7464. 

Sincerely, 

Ileana Sosa Urgell, MS, RHIA 
Records Control Manager 
Medical Records Department 
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I~ HOLY CROSS HOSPITAL 

March 30, 2004 

Mr. Alexander Neustadter 
1111 University Boulevard, West 
Silver Spring, MD 20902 

Dear Mr. Neustadter: 

1500 forest Glen Road 

Silver Spring. MD 

20910-1484 

(301) 754·7000 

wwwholycrossheatth.org 

I am writing to you in follow-up to our meeting on March 16, 2004 during which you expressed 
your concerns about the circumstances involving your father's death at Holy Cross Hospital in 
March 01' LOU.). Firs't, Itt mt: (eli you again how sony I am Ih<1l your [alh~l ilao lileu. lit.: W<1~ 
clearly a very much-loved man and I am sure that he is sorely missed. 

We have referred your concerns about the physician care provided your father during that 
admission to the Internal Medicine Peer Review Committee. This committee of the medical staff 
is composed of internal medicine physicians who review the medical record and other available 
documentation to determine if appropriate care was rendered. Most often they have questions 
that require investigation, and may take several weeks before they can reach a conclusion about 
the care provided. In addition, review by independent physicians outside the Holy Cross 
Medical Staff may be requested. Any recommendations made by the peer review committee 
concerning a physician are taken under consideration by the Department of Medicine leadership, 
and possibly the Medical Executive Committee (leadership committee of the medical staff) and 
the Board of Trustees. 

I also want you to know that end-of-life care is an ongoing focus of the hospital Ethics 
Committee. I believe that the issues you have raised will help to inform those discussions. I am 
hopeful that this will result in improvements involving the care of critically ill elderly patients at 
Holy Cross and our communication with those patients and their families. 

Again. please accept my sympathy over your loss. Voicing your concerns about your father's 
care has added significantly to this important discussion and may yet yield improvement in this 
vital area, 

Sincerely, 

/r1~ 
Blair M. Eig, M.D. 
Senior Vice President, Medical Affairs 

BME:jhk 

Holy Cross. Experts in Medicine, SpeCialists in Caring. 
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1111 University Blvd West 
Silver Spring, MD  20902 

 
April 5, 2004 
 
Doctor Blair M. Eig 
Holy Cross Hospital 
1500 Forest Glen Road 
Silver Spring, MD  20910 
 
Dear Dr. Eig, 
 
Thank you for your letter and your kind words about my father.  He was indeed very 
much loved but gave infinitely more than he received. 
 
While I am gratified that end-of-life care is important to your hospital’s ethics committee, 
I fail to understand how or why this would relate to my father.  Indeed it is my fear that 
the hospital went into an “end-of-life mode” with my father based solely on his age, with 
little regard to his medical status or his wishes.  I brought my father to your hospital for 
treatment of an infectious disease.  He was ambulatory, suffered from no additional 
serious illnesses and had an excellent quality-of-life.  As such, he wanted and required 
the most aggressive treatment in the hope of recovering and returning to that life.  
Anyone in his position, enjoying his good heath, would have opted for the same 
regardless of religious orientation and very likely regardless of age. 
 
As I conveyed to Ms. Williams, I believe the more serious issues we raised at our March 
16th meeting go beyond the scope and purview of a confidential medical peer review 
process.  They call into question, in a compelling and credible way, the accuracy of the 
medical records and the veracity of the doctors who treated my father.  I trust they will be 
investigated in the thorough, open and transparent manner that such serious allegations 
mandate. 
 
Dr. Eig, the unthinkable did happen in your hospital:  Doctors surreptitiously wrested 
control of a patient’s care from the patient and his family.  An “unrealistic son” was left 
to stand and watch his father go from good to bad to critical without being apprised of 
readily-available treatment options.  He was subsequently denied those options.  As a 
result the patient’s life ended prematurely, possibly very prematurely.  By our Judeo-
Christian standards this was essentially a murder.  
 
We would appreciate if you could give us a timeframe by which we can expect to hear 
back from you.  If you have any questions please feel free to contact me. 
 
Rabbi Anemer, Dr. Cooper and I are awaiting with great interest your response. 
 
 
Alexander H. Neustadter 
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Ie HOlY CROSS HOSPITAL 

April 14, 2004 

Mr. Alexander Neustadter 
1111 University Boulevard, West 
Apt. #405 
Silver Spring, MD 20902 

Dear Mr. Neustadter: 

I am responding to your letter of AprilS, 2004 in which you requested a timeframe by 
which you could expect to hear from me concerning the outcome of our review of your 
father's medical care prior to his death at Holy Cross Hospital in March 2003. As you 
are well aware, you brought these concerns to us after almost one year, based on your 
review of the medical record and your recollections of the events surrounding your 
father's death. Please try to understand that that we will move as quickly as possible 
consistent with a thorough, open and fair inquiry. As I suggested we might do in my 
previous letter, we have sent the case for outside physician review and must await that 
and any further analysis we feel appropriate following it. 

Based on your letter I am concerned that any resolution we achieve that does not 
completely agree with your conclusions will fail to satisfy you. It appears that you have 
irrevocably decided what outcome we should reach. I am especially concerned and 
distressed with your injudicious use of the word "murder" in your recent letter. I assure 
you that we will work to reach a conclusion that is based on facts and is fair to all 
concerned. 

I hope to report back to you within the next 30 days. 

Sincerely, 

~~.-, 
Blair M. Eig, M.D. 
Senior Vice President, Medical Affairs 

BME:jhk 

cc: Customer Relations Department 

Holy Cross. Experts in Medicine, Specialists in Caring, 

1500 Forest Glen ROOd 

Silve, Spring, MD 

20910-1484 

(301) 754·7000 

www,hoIYCfosshealth,arg 
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Customer Relations Manager noted my concerns about Dr. Weiner 2 days prior to my father's death, testifying that she considered them very serious and that she promptly notified the Medical Affairs office of Dr. Blair Eig.  Eig's office failed to take any action.
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1111 University Blvd West 
Silver Spring, MD  20902 

 
April 19, 2004 
 
Doctor Blair M. Eig 
Holy Cross Hospital 
1500 Forest Glen Road 
Silver Spring, MD  20910 
 
Dear Dr. Eig, 
 
Thank you for providing me the timeframe information I requested. 
 
Please know that I came to you in good faith and with the understanding that there will be 
views other than my own for us to consider.  I am eager to hear those views.  I will keep 
an open mind to whatever your inquiry finds.  I am also gratified that you have sought 
outside review. 
 
Thank you for your help and for the time you are devoting to this. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Alexander H. Neustadter 
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July 2,2004 

Mr. Alexander Neustadter 
1111 University Boulevard, West 
Apt. #405 
Silver Spring, MD 20902 

Dear Mr. Neustadter: 

1500 Forest Glen Road 

Silver Spring, MD 

20910-148.\ 

(301) 754·1000 

wwwholycrosshealth.Of9 

I wanted to keep you infonned about my efforts to help resolve the issues you have raised 
concerning your father's death. 

In the three weeks since our last meeting, I have had discussions with some of the 
physicians directly involved in your father's care. I hope to arrange a meeting for you 
with them in the near future. 

This entire process has taken a long time, but I have come to realize that slow, deliberate 
progress toward a resolution is much better than no resolution at all. I will let you know 
what I have accomplished towards that end soon. 

Sincerely, 

~~ 
Blair M. Eig, M.D. 
Senior Vice President, Medical Affairs 

BME:jhk 

Holy Cross. Experts in Medicine. Specialists in Caring. 
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1111 University Blvd West 
Silver Spring, MD  20902 

 
July 18, 2004 
 
Doctor Blair M. Eig 
Holy Cross Hospital 
1500 Forest Glen Road 
Silver Spring, MD  20910 
 
Dear Dr. Eig, 
 
Thank you for your efforts in facilitating a meeting with the doctors involved in my father’s treatment.  
I also appreciate your keeping me informed. 
 
I would like to ask you to look into a few important aspects of my father’s care as we await our 
meeting.  I think they pale only in comparison to the more serious issues we discussed.  As you have 
indicated to me that your primary responsibility is to the patient and family, I urge you to further 
investigate and make determinations regarding: 
 

1. Levaquin dosing:  I can’t stress enough the importance to me of knowing definitively how 
much levaquin my father received.  On July 7, 2003 I requested a pharmacy record of all 
dispensed medications.  Records Manager Ileana Sosa informed me that this type of 
information is not considered part of the record and therefore my request would not be honored.  
I ask you to please obtain these records for me. 

 
2. PPN delivery:  Dr. Milton Koch ordered PPN for my father on Friday morning, March 14, 

2003.  This PPN did not arrive until Sunday evening, some 59 hours later.  My father’s 
prealbumin sank to 3.8 mg/dl (reference=20-40.)  He didn’t have any food from the time he 
entered the hospital on Monday, March 10.  I think it is fair to say he was starving.  What 
happened? 

 
3. On Thursday, March 27, 2003, at 8:50 am, I was in my father’s room together with his home-

care assistant, Nomeda.  We both witnessed my father’s breathing suddenly collapse.  We saw 
the respiration rate and the pulse oxygen level on the monitor begin blinking and alarming, my 
father gasping for air.  Nobody entered the room for an entire hour, despite my calls to the 
nurse’s station.  I think it is reasonable to assume that my father suffered injury during that 
time, and I will not dwell on the pain he must have experienced.  What happened?  Why did no 
one come into the room with the telemetry alarming? 

 
I’m sure you can empathize with how the mere thought of these events still sends chills through me.  
Please try to imagine seeing this happen to your father and how you might react. 
 
I recall it mentioned during our last meeting that Holy Cross has rules regarding what doctors must do 
in following patient and surrogate desires for treatment.  I’d be most appreciative if you could send me 
a copy of these guidelines. 
 
Thanks again, 
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Message-ID: <4107D4D9.E81EF4C9@ibb.gov> 
Date: Wed, 28 Jul 2004 12:31:21 -0400 
From: Alexander Neustadter <an@ibb.gov> 
Organization: U.S. International Broadcasting Bureau 
X-Mailer: Mozilla 4.8 [en]C-IBB 20-Sep-02 (Windows NT 5.0; U) 
X-Accept-Language: en 
MIME-Version: 1.0 
To: Blair Eig <EIGB@holycrosshealth.org> 
Subject: Looking Into My Father Treatment 
Content-Type: text/plain; charset=us-ascii 
Content-Transfer-Encoding: 7bit 
 
Dear Dr. Eig, 
 
Thank you for your attention to the concerns I expressed in my letter of 
July 18. 
 
I completely agree with you that it's important for me to speak directly 
with the physicians involved in my father's care, particularly Drs. 
Weiner, Kariya, Shamim and Nawaz.  I am grateful for your efforts to try 
to arrange such a meeting. 
 
I too, have no easy answers to account for what I report occurred with 
my father, but there it is: 
 
- Records show a patient in sudden respiratory distress and in need of 
mechanical ventilation to attempt to save his life. 
 
- Records show a senior pulmonologist (and Board of Trustees member, no 
less) bemoaning his differences with the patient's family regarding 
prognosis and desired life-sustaining treatment instead of providing 
them with options. 
 
- Records show family repeatedly summoning doctors to patient's room, 
asking for help with patient's respiratory distress. 
 
- Progress notes show no indication that doctors ever offered or that 
family ever refused ventilation.  Records contain no DNR or Do Not 
Ventilate orders. 
 
If those points do not confirm what I have told you they must surely 
arouse your suspicion that something not kosher was going on.  And we 
haven't even mentioned my undocumented interaction with Dr. Weiner on 
3/26/03, the afternoon before my father's demise.  Speaking of that 
interaction, what became of the ABG test and ICU consult Dr. Shamim 
ordered at that time?  Those tests suggest intubation was being 

114



considered. 
 
What I have conveyed to you may represent an aberration or may be 
indicative of a Futile Care Theory practice in your hospital that you 
are unaware of.  In either case I think it mandates a thorough 
investigation into the manner in which other critically ill elderly 
patients have been treated by this pulmonological practice and how such 
treatment or lack-thereof was documented.  An analysis should be done of 
what their records contain in the way of informed consent, family 
instructions and agreements or disagreements between these doctors and 
the families.  I hope you concur that where life-or-death matters are 
concerned there must be a zero-tolerance policy for failure to document 
and follow the decision-makers' wishes.  Let's see how other records 
compare with my father's. 
 
It occurs to me that while you may be doing everything in your power, I 
may be asking for more than you can reasonably accomplish given your 
closeness to these well-respected doctors and Dr. Kariya's membership on 
the Holy Cross Hospital Board.  In all seriousness, perhaps your job 
would be made easier if I were to contact Kevin Sexton or the management 
of Trinity Health to try to bring extrinsic pressure on the people 
involved. 
 
Doctor, I wish for you to know that I harbor no illusions of achieving 
the "Perry Mason-like" outcome you expressed concern about.  I 
understand that even if I were to take this matter to court and prevail 
I am unlikely to see that happen.  But posthumous respect for my father, 
my ability to come to terms with this, and future deterrence - make it 
imperative that the true nature of what happened be brought to light. 
Please help me make that happen.  If it were your father, could you 
settle for less? 
 
Al Neustadter 
 
>     --------------------------------------------------------------- 
> 
> Subject: Re: My Father's Treatment 
> Date: Fri, 23 Jul 2004 14:34:51 -0400 
> From: Blair Eig <EIGB@holycrosshealth.org> 
> To: an@IBB.GOV 
> 
> Mr. Neustadter: 
> 
> I received your letter of July 18 yesterday, and I've asked Dr. Schwab 
> to assist me in answering the questions you have raised in it.  As to 
> the linked article you reference in your email, I want to refer back 
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> to what Dr. Schwab, Sister Rachel and I have discussed with you 
> several times in our meetings.  We have often seen what we (as 
> clinicians and members of the ethics committee) consider to be futile 
> patient care delivered in this hospital.  However, we always abide by 
> the patient's or family's wishes in terms of the care provided in 
> these cases.  That is why we have no easy answer for what you report 
> occurred with your father.  I still believe it is most important for 
> you to speak directly with the physicians that were involved in your 
> father's care, and I am trying to set that up.  I think Dr. Kariya is 
> willing to meet with you, but it may not occur till later this 
> summer.  I will keep you informed. 
> 
> Blair Eig 
> 
> >>> "Alexander Neustadter" <an@ibb.gov> 7/22/2004 6:58:55 PM >>> 
> Dear Dr. Eig, 
> 
> When I came upon this article it sent chills through me.  I hope 
> something similar is not happening at Holy Cross. 
> 
> http://216.247.220.66/archives/miscellaneous/futile.htm 
> 
> The more I consider what transpired at your hospital the less sense it 
> seems to make.  My father's records indicate that PEG feeding started 
> just 3 days before he went into respiratory distress.  I am quoted as 
> saying "my father is finally awake and hungry."  The records indicate 
> a good quality of life.  What son could deny such a father ventilation? 
> What doctor would deny such a patient ventilation? 
> 
> Unless my father was being treated against a backdrop of terminal 
> cancer, heart failure or stroke, one would think that even if the 
> family asked that he not be ventilated or that new antibiotics not be tried, 
> a Catholic hospital would caution against and even refuse such a request 
> as being unwarranted and unethical. 
> 
> Certainly without major comorbidity and with a family request to 
> ventilate if indicated, the unwillingness to do so suggests that your 
> hospital subscribes to "futilitarianism" (see hyperlinked article.) 
> As Dr. Schwab stated at our recent meeting, perhaps Drs. Weiner and 
> Kariya "gave up"; the patient and family didn't. 
> 
> When my father and I crossed your hospital doors there was an implicit 
> pact that you would do what you must to properly treat him; that the 
> goal was to make him well, barring the unforeseen.  That was never 
> supposed to change.  What happened is stunning and the ball is now in 
> your court.  I remember what you said your mother used to tell you, 
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> and I pray you will keep it in mind. 
> 
> Sincerely, 
> Al Neustadter 
> 
> Al Neustadter 
> Office of Internet Services 
> 202-260-2454 
> 
> 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
> CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail, including any attachments, is for 
> the sole use of the intended recipient and may contain information 
> that is confidential and privileged under state and Federal privacy 
> laws. If you received this e-mail in error, be aware that any 
> unauthorized use; disclosure, copying, or distribution is strictly 
> prohibited. Please contact the sender immediately and destroy all 
> copies of this message. 
> 
====================================================================
========== 
 
-- 
Al Neustadter 
Office of Internet Services 
202-260-2454 

117



lie HOlY CROSS HOSPITAl. 

September 27,2004 

Mr. Alexander Neustadter 
1111 University Boulevard, West 
Apt. #405 
Silver Spring, MD 20902 

Dear Mr. Neustadter: 

1500 forest Glen Road 

Silver Spring, MD 

20910-1484 

(301) 754.7000 

www holycrosshealth org 

We are sorry to have taken an extended time to respond to your questions concerning the events 
around your father's admission to Holy Cross Hospital. Hopefully, these answers will at least in 
part respond to your concerns. 

You have asked to see the pharmacy record of dispensed medications. As we previously 
explained to you, the official record of what medication the patient actually received is the 
medication Kardex that you have. All other information is subordinate to the Kardex. This is 
what the nurse who administered the drug says was given to the patient. I don't believe there is 
any reason to waste time and effort dredging up less reliable information. By the way, the 
750mg dose of Levaquin for community-acquired pneumonia was not approved by the FDA 
until Oct. 24,2003. The 750mg dose was clearly not standard medical therapy at the time of 
your father's hospitalization. 

I trust your word that nutrition was not started for 59 hours after you and Dr. Koch spoke. Dr. 
Koch did recommend procalamine and lipids as a stopgap measure in his consult of 3/14. He did 
not write an order for procalamine and lipids. Another physician wrote an order for peripheral 
parenteral nutrition on 3/16. There was also an order sheet for central parenteral nutrition that is 
undated. His physicians were clearly hoping to use his gut for nutrition rather than the IV route, 
as the enteral route is much preferred for safety and effectiveness. Multiple attempts at placing a 
feeding tube failed because of his Zenker's diverticulum and this clearly contributed to a delay in 
providing nutrition. I can easily surmise that the physicians assumed a feeding tube would be 
successfully placed by GI or radiology and saw no reason to start IV nutrition when tube 
feedings would be started shortly. It really is very unusual that we are unable to place a feeding 
tube. 

Holy Cross Hospital does not prepare its own parenteral nutrition solutions. They are made by 
an outside service to insure the highest quality. Orders must be submitted by 2 pm in order for 
the outside pharmacy to prepare and deliver the product by the next morning. Thus if orders are 
submitted after 2 pm, the parenteral nutrition solution will not be ready until the morning of the 
second day after the order is submitted. This is acceptable as parenteral nutrition is not 
considered an emergency or urgent intervention. All the above factors likely contributed to the 
delay in initiation of nutritional support. 

Holy Cross. Experts in Medicine. Specialists in Caring. 
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Mr. Alexander Neustadter 
September 27,2004 
Page 2 

There are many controversies in the field of nutrition. While it is obvious that we can't live 
without nutrition, the timing for initiation of feeding during acute illness is controversial (as long 
as fluids and electrolytes are managed appropriately). Acutely ill patients are generally not 
hungry and do not feel like they are starving. 

I have asked Susan King, the Director of Critical Care, to respond to your questions concerning 
care provided by that unit. Her response follows: 

"I am saddened that your experience on the morning of March 27,2003 was not found to be 
supportive of the dying process for both you and your father. I apologize for any additional pain 
you must have felt during this most difficult time. I have researched the call response times on 
the date in question and would be happy to review that information with you. 

Your comments about no one responding to the alarms brings up the much broader question of 
the appropriateness of using monitoring devices on dying patients. These devices can be very 
intrusive and distracting with little to offer in the setting of an actively dying patient when 
additional life support measures are not planned. Nursing probably knew additional life support 
measures were not planned for your father and there was no action for them to take for a low 
pulse oximetry reading. One could argue that such monitoring only serves to make family at the 
bedside more anxious and distract them from paying full attention to their dying loved one. 
Therefore, many believe that such monitoring is inappropriate in this setting and should be 
discontinued. " 

You may reach Susan King at 301-754-7521. As I stated above, I hope that these answers will 
help resolve some of the issues lingering since your father's death. I wish you health and 
hopefully more happiness in the new year. 

Sincerely, 

fu~~ 
Lee Schwab, M.D. 
Medical Director, Critical Care 

LS:jk 
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October 25,2004 

Doctor Lee Schwab 
Holy Cross Hospital 
1500 Forest Glen Road 
Silver Spring, MD 20910 

Dear Dr. Schwab, 

] 1]] University Blvd West 
Silver Spring, MD 20902 

I have a few additional questions on the last part of your letter of September 27 and am 
hoping you can provide clarification. 

Precisely when did my father transition from a full-code aggressively treated patient who 
was improving, to an actively dying patient for whom additional life support measures 
were not planned? Please, make a determination as to when this occurred. Does Holy 
Cross Hospital have any documentation requirements or forms to be filled out that would 
identify a patient in whom life support will not be employed? Ifhospital regulations 
address this subject I would be grateful if you would send me a copy. Was there proper 
documentation in my father's case? 

I appreciate your assistance with this and look forward to your timely reply. 

Sincerely, 

~{lf~ 
Alexander H. Neustadter 
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My father was counting on me to protect him.  He was healthy and he desperately wanted to live.  Did 
I place him in jeopardy by taking him to a hospital that was certain he had come to die? 
  

A little bit about my pops:  He would get up each morning, shower and dress 
himself and come into the kitchen for coffee and cereal.  I would leave him 
with a homecare assistant during the day, and she would walk with him 
around the parking lot of our apartment complex for exercise.  If I would say 
“you’re walking like an old man” he would sprint ahead and retort “Is this 
what you want?”  My father lived to interact with people. 
  
My father used a cane.  He had mild dementia.  In March '03 he couldn’t have 

told you that we were about to go to war in a futile search for weapons of mass destruction, but he 
could have said “I can’t sit anymore, let’s go out,” or “isn’t it time for Synagogue?” or “I love you.” 
 He was very affectionate.  He had a voracious appetite; definitely not “frail elderly.”  He was a non-
smoker, no history of heart attack, stroke, cancer, diabetes or COPD.  He had a 30-year-old Zenker’s 
diverticulum which gave him no trouble.  Did the doctors appreciate the quality and joy in his life, or 
was he just another 90+ year-old in a hospital gown lying on his back with pneumonia? 
  
On the first day of my father’s hospitalization the pulmonologist, Dr Weiner, asked me how long I 
thought people live.  2 ½ weeks later at my father’s bedside he looked me in the eye and said that my 
father was “dead the day he got here,” as he refused my impassioned plea for intubation (no record of 
him even seeing my father on that day).  Was there a nexus between the two remarks?  Should I be 
concerned that my father may have been written off from the start and treated accordingly?  Did he get 
caught in a trap that even a young man might not pull out of? 
  
More than three months after my father’s “passing,” a Discharge Summery was entered into his 
medical record.  Had his treatment indeed been as depicted in this clumsily written document, might 
he still be walking around our apartment complex wearing his big smile? 
  

WHERE WERE THE ANTIBIOTICS?  WHERE WAS THE FOOD? 
  
• I read that when treating pneumonia you “hit hard and fast:” The antibiotics must kill the bug 

quickly and completely, must not drive resistance and must not create the emergence of other 
pathogens; that underdosing is a significant risk factor for the development of resistance; that 
careful evaluation of the patient’s response to therapy is essential.  If there is no improvement 
within 72 hours you must suspect non-covered organisms, unusual pathogens, drug resistance or 
dosing error.  Are these things true?  If so, was my father’s pneumonia treated in such a manner? 

  
• The nurse’s Kardex indicates that a daily dose of 500mg of the antibiotic Levaquin was given for 

the first 3 days, while the physician order forms indicate that 500mg was ordered for only one day 
before being cut to 250mg.  Which is correct and what accounts for the discrepancy?  Why was 
the dose ever cut to 250mg?  Ortho-McNeil recommends 500mg for the treatment of CAP and 
750mg for nosocomial or complicated CAP, with no dosage reduction required in the elderly or 
even in those with mild renal impairment.  My father’s white count improved from 40k to 20k 
within 16 hours of one 500mg dose of Levaquin.  His bands quickly started reverting to normal - a 
positive prognostic indicator.  It would be regrettable if the dosage was erroneously or negligently 
cut; in a prejudicial environment where a poor response will be used against him he could ill-
afford such a mistake. 
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• Physician order forms show a 3-day gap in antibiotics, from March 17 to March 20.  When one is 

hospitalized for pneumonia without concomitant illness, doesn’t the focus have to remain on 
antibiotics and the patient’s response?  Did Dr. Weiner have the medical option of noting “failure 
to thrive, situation grim” on March 20 - ten days into the hospitalization, without re-assessing his 
treatment of the infectious disease?  Wasn’t he obligated to recognize failure to thrive, an 
unrelentingly high white count and copious secretions as signs of possible continuing infection? 

  
• Why did a full week go by before my father received any nutritional support?  Why did 58 hours 

elapse between his nutritional consult and the delivery of PPN?  His prealbumin level went as low 
as 3.8 before PPN/TPN started; he was starving.  It climbed to 7.5 on March 20 - when my father 
was sitting at the side of the bed, dangling his feet and doing physical therapy for 15 minutes.  Is 
sitting up and doing physical therapy under such conditions consistent with failure to thrive? 

  
• For 8 days after his extubation my father was breathing independently with no respiratory distress 

noted.  Almost immediately after gastric feeding began on March 22, ever-increasing periods of 
alertness were documented.  He was improving each day except for the WBC and the secretions.  
Wasn’t it just a matter of time before resistant bacteria came roaring back with a vengeance? 

  
DON’T ASK DON’T TELL DON’T TREAT 

  
From the final Tuesday evening when my father suddenly went into respiratory distress, was there a 
tacit understanding among the doctors and staff that he was being “taken down” by withholding 
treatment because of his age?  That intubation was to be avoided at all costs? 
  
• Did Dr. Kariya have the legal option of noting on Tuesday, March 25, “breathing tenuous…son 

unrealistic, no new suggestions” without invoking the Maryland Health Care Decisions Act or 
informing me that intubation was medically necessary?  Did he have the option of leaving my 
father in a life-threatening situation without offering medical assistance; without explaining what 
our choices were and soliciting my instructions; without so much as taking a blood test to check 
the white count?  Was my father now somehow deemed unworthy of the treatment he needed and 
wanted?  Is there any indication that I, God forbid, declined to have my father intubated? 

  
• A resident I called in later Tuesday evening found my father to be in respiratory distress and in 

need of intubation.  I told him he must intubate.  Rabbi Anemer spoke with him and informed him 
that Jewish law mandated intubation.  Did he have the option of leaving without doing so, giving 
my father oxygen instead?  Is there any indication that I declined to have my father intubated? 

  
• Did Dr. Kariya have the medical / legal option of noting on Wednesday morning, March 26, 

“Patient in respiratory distress…white count 37.6…I hope the patient’s final days are peaceful as 
opposed to being suctioned/intubated” without informing me that intubation was necessary and 
without even revisiting the antibiotics?  Is there any indication that I declined intubation? 

  
• Did Drs. Weiner and Shamim have the option of refusing my direct request for intubation during 

their lengthy visit on Wednesday afternoon?  Can such decisions be made absent any 
documentation?  What was the purpose of changing one antibiotic Wednesday night at 10 pm? 

  
• Why didn’t the staff respond to my repeated calls to the nurse’s station for help on Thursday 

morning?  Didn’t their telemetry display the same things Nomeda and I were witnessing – 
respiratory and sat rates both alarming -- my father choking to death? 
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WAS AN AGE TREATED RATHER THAN A PATIENT? 

  
Did this dear father pay the ultimate price because a group of doctors led by a dogmatic pulmonologist 
decided they’d seen enough 90-year-olds on vents – ethical, religious and patient-specific 
considerations aside?  Our faith teaches that a doctor is but an agent through whom God affects his 
cures, and who has no leeway to make godly decisions.  As long as his patient is alive the doctor is 
obligated to do everything in his power for him.  Why did the doctors dishonor this dignified and 
gentle man’s deeply-held religious beliefs? 
  
Are all patients equal in the eyes of Holy Cross Hospital?  If Ronald Reagan had been admitted with 
pneumonia and Nancy Reagan requested that “everything” be done, would you have hesitated to do 
so, much less confront or deceive her?  For all of Dr. Weiner and colleagues’ professed desire not to 
cause suffering to a person who has lived a full life, shouldn't they stand up for their “principles” 
rather than hide behind falsified records? 
  
Do my father's medical records appear accurate or logical?  Would a son described as "deeply 
religious" and "unrealistic," and quoted as saying "my father was finally awake and hungry" refuse 
ventilation for a parent who was independent and healthy prior to hospitalization, had just received a 
peg tube and was last charted as "alert and oriented X2, resting comfortably, no respiratory distress 
noted"?  Why is there no documentation of such refusal? 
  
Did these arrogant doctors see a vulnerable son whose obstinance they resented and take advantage of 
him?  Of much greater concern, is there a possibility that my father’s illness was curable?  Did their 
prejudice of ageism blind them to the basics of infectious disease management, condemning this 
robust man to certain death - by predictable bacterial resistance and callous refusal to treat? 
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Diary, page 1 of 15 
Background:  In early February, 2003, Dr. Nawaz put my father on a trial of dyazide for better control of 
hypertension.  On February 27 I took him to the doctor because he’d been feeling weak for a few days; 
less than normal energy & orientation and a cold.  Dr. Nawaz ordered a stat BMP & CBC which showed 
my father to be hyponatremic (Sodium=125 Chloride=88) and revealed a WBC of 14.3 with left shift.  Dr. 
Nawaz asked me to discontinue the dyazide but made no mention of the elevated WBC.  One week later 
(March 5) a repeat BMP showed sodium and chloride back to normal range.  No repeat CBC was 
ordered.  When informed of the results by phone I told Dr. Nawaz that my father's weakness and cold 
were not improving; that he was not his usual self.  (I recall his homecare assistant, Nomeda, postponing 
his haircut each day that week, telling me he was still sick.)  Dr. Nawaz replied "Well, his sodium level 
has come back so everything is OK." 
  
  
My father fell in the living room early Friday morning (March 7).  He suffered a bruise on his head and 
lip but appeared otherwise to be unhurt.  (He didn't trip over anything, saying he just had a dizzy-spell.)  
Over the weekend he appeared to be even less energetic, able to complete only half his walk around the 
building on Sunday.  That evening I found he was running a fever of 101.4. 
  
He seemed himself again on Monday (March 10) morning taking his shower as usual, eating a normal 
breakfast and his temperature normal.   As a precaution I decided I would take him to the doctor before I 
go to work.  I would also take him to have his glasses adjusted.  Dr. Nawaz checked my father’s blood 
pressure and measured a systolic of around 65.  He immediately called for an ambulance.  He checked the 
BP with 2 other cuffs and found the pressure to be normal but was nevertheless concerned about the first 
reading.  He advised me to let the ambulance take my father to the ER for an evaluation.  I agreed. 
  
At the ER I’m told by Dr. Chu that my father has a white count of 38,000, indicative of infection 
somewhere.  Soon afterward I’m told he has pneumonia in the lower left lobe.  I speak with Dr. Nawaz by 
phone.  He explains that although he could release my father and treat him with oral antibiotics he’d 
strongly recommend that we keep him in the hospital for 24 hours so he can be given antibiotics by IV.  I 
agree.  A Foley catheter is inserted.  I watch the nurses take blood culture tests.  My father was moved to 
the 1st floor chest pain observation area as a holding place until a room would become available in approx. 
6 hours. 
  
He was first admitted to the 4th floor.  His nurse was a lady named Ginta.  A bag of levaquin 500 was 
hanging from his IV.  When I entered the room I saw his hands were shaking and he had the chills.  I had 
never seen him like this.  He was in great pain.  Something was wrong with the catheter area.  The bladder 
was swollen and his naval hernia was bulging outward.  Four nurses were standing over him looking and 
examining the bladder area.  They were asking each other, “is that where his bladder would be or is that a 
hernia?”  The problem subsided just as Dr. Nawaz came by.  He ordered my father moved to the 6th floor 
where telemetry was available.  My father missed dinner and had no food all day. 
  
On Tuesday Morning (March 11) Dr. Nawaz says my father looks better and the white count is down to 
20,000.  The foley can be removed.  Dr. Nawaz will come by later in the afternoon and will aim for an 
evening release.  I leave my father with Nomeda to go home to bring some soup in a thermos.  Almost as 
soon as I arrive Dr. Weiner calls and introduces himself.  He asks if my father has an advance directive 
and inquires about my wishes re code and resuscitation.  I tell him that we adhere to Orthodox Jewish law 
(Halacha) and that I hope to be taking him home that evening.  He asks me what I’m talking about, 
saying my father is very sick.  “He is septic and if the sepsis is refractory to treatment death is imminent,” 
he tells me.  “He may recover,” he says, “but I’ve been doing this a long time.  Let me ask you - how long 
do you think people live?  How many 105-year-olds do you know?  How many 100 year-olds?  Have you 
ever asked yourself why?”  I am simply stunned. 
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I drove to Dr Nawaz’s office and asked that he call me ASAP.  I went to the hospital and found Dr. 
Weiner at the nurse’s station.  He told me that people as old as my father usually don’t overcome 
pneumonia.  He asked me if I remembered the anthrax attacks.  “We know that antibiotics kill anthrax, so 
why did so many people die anyway?  Because it’s not the bacteria, but the cascading sets of 
inflammatory and immune responses that once started cannot be overcome.  If your father would be a 
tennis player or would jog 5 miles every day that would be different, but he isn’t.”  I reiterate that my 
father is in very good health, and he says, “Let’s see what the antibiotics will do.  We’ll know in a day or 
so.” 
  
Dr. Nawaz called me later in the afternoon and reassured me.  He told me that Dr. Weiner was merely 
painting a worst-case scenario and not to worry.  I should think of this as a wake-up call that my father is 
“not getting any younger.”  He would like to keep my father in the hospital another day.  My father had a 
dinner of roast beef and mashed potatoes as my friend Gary was visiting. 
  
Rabbi Anemer had suggested I call Dr. Chanales for a second opinion, and Dr. Chanales visits my father 
that evening.  He tells me that if it were his dad he wouldn’t put him on a ventilator should the need arise, 
although it’s not a “totally unreasonable” thing to do.”  He says he has cases where he walks out of the 
hospital room shaking his head and wondering “what are they thinking?”  My father’s case is not like that, 
but still no rabbi should render an Halachic opinion without living with the family and witnessing the 
hardships that result.  He observes that if I were to consult Rabbi Breitowitz I might get a different 
opinion than that of Rabbi Anemer. 
  
My father’s pulse O2 is in the upper 80’s.  He’s put on “vapotherm,” allowing 100% oxygen through a 
canula right after Dr. Chanales leaves.  His O2 goes up to 92. 
  
Wednesday morning (March 12): Dr. Nawaz visits.  He shows me X-rays and says “let’s give the 
pneumonia time to resolve.”  White count is 18,000.  I watch Laura do physical therapy.  She remarks on 
“how strong my father’s legs are.”  At my suggestion they help my father off the bed to a portable toilet.  I 
see how weak he has become.  Dr. Schneider comes by to talk with me.  He also recommends against 
intubation should it be needed.  “Wasn’t your father diagnosed with Alzheimer’s?” he asks.  “It usually 
doesn’t have more than a 5-year course.  Age itself is a major killer.  I lost two people in the ER just last 
week.  F___ Halacha.  No, I take that back but if you put him on a respirator you’ll be stuck halachically.  
Just promise me you’ll know when to take him off.” 
  
Dr. Kariya introduces himself and talks with me about a peg tube for my father.  I express surprise that he 
would need one; he’s been eating and drinking with no problems.  Dr. Kariya says “think about it, you 
don’t have to make a decision yet.”  He suddenly changes the subject, telling me that his mother “died in 
the next room, no, it was two rooms down.  It was so peaceful.”  This struck me as odd and out of place.  
In the evening Dr. Shah (a resident) put the Foley back in, saying it would help keep accurate track of 
urine flow.  My father had no food this day other than a half can of Boost in the morning that a nutritionist 
watched him drink. 
  
Thursday (March 13):  Discussion in the morning with Dr. Weiner about respirators and Jewish law.  
Rabbi Anemer tells me to ask him if there is any unusual pain an elderly person would suffer as a result of 
intubation.  Dr. Weiner replies that if you have to put an elderly person back on a respirator every 3 days 
until the end, then yes, there is more total pain for an elderly person.  This does not satisfy Rabbi 
Anemer.  I call Rabbi Anemer more than once going back and forth with Dr. Weiner.  I ask Dr. Weiner if 
he would want to speak to Rabbi Anemer directly and he says no.   My mind on this matter is completely 
made up.  Even aside from Halacha it simply makes no sense not to aggressively treat a man who has no 
cardio-pulmonary disease or cancer, is ambulatory and very happy to be alive. 
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Dr. Shah wants a central line inserted for enzyme replenishment and faster administration of medication.  
He explains risks/benefits.  (Risks = infection, bleeding)  Says no discomfort is involved as Novocain is 
used.  Female intern comes out of room and tells me “everything went fine, they’re just cleaning up.”  I’m 
with Dr. Nawaz in hallway when Dr. Shah comes out and tells him “I couldn’t get it in.  Tried twice and 
didn’t want to risk inserting a dirty line.  He was moving around too much from the pain.”  I enter the 
room to find my father breathing heavily and his O2 level in the mid 80s.  Dr. Nawaz tells me they will 
have to intubate soon.  “It is time to make a decision,” he says.  I tell him the decision was already made.  
Denise walks in carrying a plastic tub and tells me and Nomeda “you’ll have to leave.”  I ask her what she 
was going to do.  “You said you wanted him intubated, didn’t you?” she replies, with unmistakable 
annoyance.  I suddenly feel a chill, realizing that she would have preferred my father die at that time.  
What kind of hospital is this? 
  
Nomeda and I sit in the waiting area.  Nomeda says to me “I take care of…I be with…many older 
people…but never like your father.”  They allow us into the ICU to see my father.  He is resting very 
comfortably.  What an amazing relief compared to the way he looked before the intubation. 
  
When I get back to the ICU waiting area before the 6:00 pm visiting hours I meet med student Horde in 
the waiting area.  He inquires of my wellbeing and tells me that without question I did the right thing to 
intubate my father.  He says “if it were me who had the choice of suffering the way your father was 
suffering today or the way he is resting now I would take this without question.  I want you to do 
something – when your father wakes up just whisper in his ear to breath with the machine – in, out.  Don’t 
fight the machine.” 
  
Once inside the ICU I see Dr. Kermaier and introduce myself.  I tell him that my father is 91 years old and 
I put him on a respirator; I hope I did the right thing.  He asks me why my father is here.  “Did he have a 
stroke?”  I say no.  “How is his quality of life?  Is he in a nursing home?”  I answer no, explaining that 
while my father does have some dementia, he is happy, healthy and walks to shul with me on Shabbos.  
He gives me a puzzled look and says “well then I’m not sure what your question is.”  He peeks in on my 
father and says “he should have a Refuah Shlaima” (complete recovery.) 
  
My colleagues Richard and Natalia come from work to visit me.  While I’m talking with them in the 
waiting room ICU nurse Sue (wears long hair braid in front) comes over on her way out.  She tells me she 
tried to insert NG tube but it would not go down.  She is unwilling to try again.  Tells me a GI consult is 
set up for Friday morning.  My father is resting comfortably.  He had no food on at all on Thursday. 
  
Friday morning (March 14): When I arrived at the ICU I found Dr. Milton Koch already there to 
address the nutritional issue.  He inquired as to the history of the Zenkers.  I told him it was at least 25 
years old and my father wasn’t having trouble with it.  Some swallowing difficulty that he started 
complaining about 2 years ago disappeared when he was put on prevacid.  I asked him if he would try to 
insert the NG tube that the nurses were unable to.  He refused, saying that there was nothing about his 
expertise that would allow him to be more successful.  “The only way to insert the tube would be under 
X-ray guidance,” he told me, “requiring a lot of expensive labor.  It would take perhaps 6 people to vent 
him and get him down the elevator to radiology.”  He asked us (Ruthie & Nomeda were with me) to wait 
with my father while he goes to the nurse’s station to write his orders.  He would order a form of light 
nutrients through the regular IV line for now.  No questions for him other than nutrition. 
  
I walked over to Dr. Koch and related how some 8 years ago after doing an endoscopy to check for ulcers 
(dx helicobacter) Dr. Barry Rubin told me what a difficult time he had getting the scope down until he 
remembered about the Zenkers.  Then he just guided the scope visually until he found the esophagus 
again.  I asked him if perhaps he might use an endoscope to get the NG tube down.  Dr. Koch replied, 
“May I be frank with you?  I want to do as little as possible for your father because I don’t want to hurt 
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him.”  His hostility was palpable.  I felt a sudden chill as I looked at my father through the glass window 
with my friends near him.  I was scared.  What am I going to do now? 
  
Friday afternoon I see Dr. Weiner in the waiting area where I am sitting with Nomeda and Katrine.  I ask 
him how soon he would contemplate removing the tube.  “Some time next week,” he replied.  “He’s not 
ready yet.  I know it when I see it and he’s not there.”   
  
Right before Sabbath I return to the hospital to find my friend Hakki waiting for me, giving me 
encouragement.  Later that evening my father is switched from propofol to atavan / morphine as needed.  
He begins to get restless and shift in the bed.   Resident says they may extubate on Saturday then comes 
back and says “don’t quote me on that.  All decisions are made in conjunction with teaching staff.”  No 
food today, only sodium chloride drip.  Nobody can answer me as to the plan for nutrition or why no 
nutrition has come today. 
  
Saturday (March 15):  I contact Dr. Ball (on-call pulmonologist with Weiner/Kariya group) in the 
morning to express concern about nutrition.   My father hasn’t had food since Tuesday.  Ruthie walks to 
the hospital with me.  Dr. Ball does rounds later in the afternoon.  He tried to pass the NG tube without 
success and comes out to talk with me.  He urges me to “keep focused on whole picture – pneumonia 
getting better; no fever; ordering light nutrients to be given through the regular IV tonight; he may be 
extubated soon, - so the trend is positive.”  Katrine and Ruthie are with me.  Katrine asks Dr. Ball who I 
can count on to be my contact tomorrow.  He says he will get back to me.  I thank him but reiterate how 
aggravated I am about the nutrition.  “Every little part of the picture adds to the overall outcome,” I told 
him, “and you never know if getting real food sooner rather than later won’t make the difference.”  Dr. 
Ball responds, “I can’t disagree with you.” 
  
We meet evening nurse Luciana and I leave after 9:00 pm closing time.  I just miss Anita & Ken who call 
me from their car and tell me that my father looks comfortable with 40% oxygen.  No nutrition yet 
delivered!  I try to reassure myself that the ICU staff and the doctors must know what they are doing. 
  
Sunday morning (March 16):  I call Luciana and ask about IV nutrition.  She says it never came and she 
was concerned about that too.  I contact Dr. Ray White at Bethesda Naval expressing my alarm about 
nutrition; no food at all since Tuesday evening dinner.  He says he’ll stop by soon and see what he can 
do.  I find Dr. White in the room with my dad when I arrive at 7:20 am and he stays next to my father for 
2 hours trying to pass an NG tube.  Dr. Nawaz joins him.  He comes out looking exhausted saying “It just 
wouldn’t go.  I’m convinced I got it past the pharynx but it just wouldn’t go further.  I hope you have a 
better day.” 
  
Later Sunday morning they try to insert the PICC line and fail.  I’m told this will have to be attempted 
again tomorrow under ultrasound guidance; there is nobody on the weekend staff with that kind of 
experience.  Later still they try to insert an NG tube under radiological guidance and fail.  Sunday evening 
at 8:00 pm the light IV nutrition (PPN) Dr. Koch was talking about on Friday morning and Dr. Ball was 
telling me about on Saturday arrives and is hooked to the IV. 
  
Monday (March 17):  PICC line is successfully inserted under ultrasound guidance.  Better TPN ordered 
for Monday night.  Dr. Nawaz says white count is 17,000.  Says X-rays look better.  Respirator placed in 
passive mode for 5 hours.  Dr. Weiner comes in late afternoon and says he will pull the tube.  He raises 
his voice and wags his finger at me as he says “Remember what I told you:  On again off again, on again 
off again, on again off again until you tell us to stop.  Has he tried talking to you?  Has he opened his 
eyes?”  He waves his arm and walks to the nurse’s desk. 
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I’m asked to step out and when I return my father is resting comfortably without the tube.  PICC line TPN 
is started at 8:00 pm.  I speak with Anita who tells me that in terms of nutrition TPN is as good as 
stomach feeding – so the nutritional issue has now been addressed. 
  
It is Purim night and I run home to get my father’s Megilla.  I read it to him so loudly that the nurses close 
ICU-7’s sliding glass door. 
  
Tuesday (March 18):  In morning phone conversation Ruthie suggests I find a new pulmonologist; a 
doctor that is not “hostile to the idea of my father recovering.”  In the ICU Dr. Nawaz is near my father 
who is sitting up in bed and looking all around the room.  He tells him to “open your mouth” and sticks an 
object into his throat.  My father lets out a yell and says “no!”  Dr. Nawaz gently says “I’m sorry Mr. 
Neustadter, I was just testing your gag reflex.  I won’t do that again.”  Speech pathologist evaluates and 
says for now he cannot safely swallow food, but she shows me how I can wet his mouth and lips with a 
foam lollipop dipped in cold water. 
  
On or about this day I started leaving messages to talk with IMCU / ICU head nurse Susan King.  I 
wanted to tell her about Dr. Weiner and get her recommendation for another doctor.   I also called 
customer relations and was put in touch with Carolyn Williams, who told me she would get back to meet 
with me to hear what happened. 
  
My father is in a light sleep the rest of the day, but he mouths amen when I’m davening mincha. 
  
Wednesday (March 19) around 9:00 am the door to the ICU is stuck in the open position and I witness 
my father sitting on the side of the bed (his face away from me, toward the window.)  He is with Laura, 
the physical therapist.  Sue (charge nurse that shift, has British accent) comes to the door and says “that’s 
your father over there, sitting up.  I have to tell you he’s a lot stronger than I gave him credit for.”  [I 
remember this as occurring on Wednesday.  Nurse’s flowchart appears to indicate Thursday.]  
  
I ask Sue if it would be possible for me to come in now just to see him and be with him.  She leads me 
into Susan King’s office where Susan explains the importance of ICU discipline.  I tell her I understand, 
and would like to talk with her about another matter.  She promises she’ll get back to me within an hour. 
  
I asked Laura what made her decide to get my father sitting up on the side.  “He just looked like he 
wanted to get up,” she said. 
  
During the afternoon I bring Rabbi Kawior to see my father, who is now fast asleep. 
  
Thursday (March 20): It was on or about Thursday morning that I go to the ER to ask Dr. White if he 
know of any pulmonologists who could replace Dr. Weiner.  He gives me a few names.  I call Dr. Ira 
Tauber from the Baha group and am told he is at the hospital on rounds and would be paged.  I hear the 
overhead page.  Dr. Nawaz is in the ICU and I inform him that I want Dr. Weiner replaced.  I explain that 
I need a doctor who isn’t “hostile to the idea of my father recovering,” using Ruthie’s words.  He asks me 
to please not bring in another group because it will “sour the relationship.”  If I feel it is really necessary I 
should call Dr. Chanales back for another consultation, but not a new group.  It will “sour the 
relationship” he repeated.  "Look," he told me, "say what you will Dr. Weiner is a good doctor.  He did 
exactly as you asked.  He is treating your father as any pulmonologist would.” 
  
Dr. Alan Diamond comes late in the evening to evaluate for a peg tube.  He examines my father and 
describes the procedure and its’ risks; if he punctures the Zenkers the results will be catastrophic.  I tell 
him I’m scared; what does he think?  He replies “look around you.  You’ve been here long enough to see 
that everyone in this room is pretty sick.  But I’ve been watching you from a distance.  You decided to 
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treat your father aggressively and it looks like he may have turned the corner.  As I see it you now have 
two choices.  You can either give him ice chips for comfort until the end or you do this surgery and 
continue the aggressive path.”  I sign the paperwork immediately. 
  
I recall “getting into trouble” with charge nurse Ian for staying with my father past ICU hours.  He told 
me early Friday morning that he had called security to come and escort me out just as I was leaving.  He 
will be “reporting” me to Susan King. 
  
Friday (March 21):  My father is asleep all day.  Katrine, Ruthie, Nomeda are with me in the waiting 
room late in the afternoon while the peg surgery takes place in the ICU.  I stand against the wall saying 
Tehilim.  Dr. Diamond comes out and tells me that it went very well.  “The endoscope naturally went 
right into the Zenkers.  I had to fiddle around a bit to find my way out but once I did the surgery was 
uneventful.  I removed a huge chunk of matter from your father’s Zenkers and he’s in fact breathing 
easier than ever now.”  I thank Hashem.  I wonder to myself why they couldn’t try to pass the NG tube 
with the aid of an endoscope one week earlier.  Eight extra days without food! 
  
With an hour before Shabbos I ran home to shower and come back.  My father’s eyes are open the entire 
evening I am there with Katrine.  I caress him and kiss him.  He repeatedly brings my arm to him for a 
kiss.  At the end of visiting hours I move away from his visual range so he should fall asleep. 
  
Luciana is the overnight nurse.  Katrine takes me to the Hecht Co to buy coffee for the ICU and chocolate 
for Luciana. 
  
I walk to hospital early Saturday (March 22) morning and stay the entire day.  My father is less alert, 
asleep most of the day but resting comfortably.  Seems to me the bag of levaquin hasn’t been changed in 
the past day or two, only the Rocephin.  I realize however that I am not in the ICU for much of the day 
and night.  Still, it looks like it hasn’t been touched. 
  
Day Nurse (Karen) tells me my father is to be transferred out of ICU to the regular floor.  Toward the end 
of the afternoon Dr. Diamond comes to me in waiting room and tells me he is now starting the stomach 
feeding.  Peg looks good. 
  
Saturday night: Discharge from ICU to room 6107.  It's around 10:00 pm.  My father is asleep. 
  
Sunday (March 23) morning:  My father is a little bit alert and affectionate.  Dr. Diamond comes in to 
examine him one last time.  He shows me how to clean my father’s mouth and gums; says it’s important 
to keep mouth free of bacteria.  He tells me if my father gets stronger he’d be happy to operate on the 
Zenkers and remove the peg.  He recalls doing just that to a woman in her late 80s. 
  
Soon after he leaves Dr. Nawaz comes in and sees my father awake and alert.  He tells me he will be 
taking his son on a vacation this week so Monday will be the last day I will see him.  Dr. Shamim will 
cover.  He is putting in an order to evaluate my father for physical therapy on the top floor.  If my father 
“passes inspection” Medicare will cover it.  It will “buy him a great week here.  Go up and take a look at 
the physical therapy unit.  You’ll be impressed.” 
  
My friends from work Bernie & Melissa visit around noontime and during their visit Anita walks in.  She 
tries to talk to my father but he’s sleeping and she has a hard time arousing him to look at her.  She 
examines the peg and says it looks good. 
  
Early Sunday evening my father wakes up and looks at me, touches me when suddenly his O2 goes from 
the upper 90’s to the upper 80’s.  He’s going back to sleep.  As I call for help nurse Ron Gibbs comes 
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running in.  Says he just happened to see and hear the pulse O2 alarming on the monitor at the nurse’s 
station while he was getting history and came in to see what’s wrong.  He suctions my father and the sat 
rate goes right back up.  He tells me it was a plug that just got in the way of his windpipe.  He asks when 
my father was extubated.  When he hears that it was 6 days ago he says there is an error in the history.  He 
had it down as only 3 days – which would have put my father at great risk of needing reintubation.  “I was 
about to call for an anesthesiologist.  I’ll correct the history.” 
  
 When Ron comes back to the room I point out that my father has not received any levaquin today.  He 
checks and says he has a call in to the nurse prior to the last one to find out if she gave it to him.  He says 
“this wouldn’t be the first time she’s forgotten such things.  By 8:00 pm he verifies with the pharmacy 
that they have an extra dose and he has the drug delivered.  He tells me he will make note in his record 
that this med was given 6 hours late so that it is not administered too early on Monday. 
  
Later Sunday night my father’s bed is in the raised position.  He is looking at me and kissing me when Dr. 
Heinz walks in.  I tell my father “look, it’s Dr. Heinz.”  She says hello to him and examines him with her 
stethoscope.  When we go outside to the hallway I ask her how my father is doing.   She says he’s doing 
great.  I tell her what Dr. Weiner said the previous Monday when he was extubated and how stunned and 
hurt I was.  “Did he have a right to talk like that to me, in front of my father, no less?  And look how he is 
defying Dr. Weiner’s expectations.”  She replied, “I appreciate what you are telling me, but there is not 
much I can do.  He is my boss.”  I told her I merely wished for her to listen and to be aware.  She thanked 
me. 
  
Monday (March 24) morning - Dr. Nawaz’s last day before vacation.  He finds my father awake and 
responsive to him.  He tells me that two liver numbers are very high.  It may be indicative of liver failure 
but more likely is a reaction the the TPN or the Haldol.  He is withholding haldol now and will schedule 
an ultrasound of the gallbladder STAT.  As he is leaving the room I start to tell Dr. Nawaz about my 
father not getting the antibiotic yesterday.  He says “yeah, I think he’s only getting one now, which is 
more than enough.”  I go out to the nurse’s station where he is busy writing and when he looks up at me I 
say “I’m worried about the white count.  If it were my father I’d be breaking out the vanco right about 
now.”  He laughs and says, “Well I disagree.  He’s getting a broad spectrum antibiotic that covers 
everything that’s out there.” 
  
Later Dr. Kariya visits.  I tell him about the 02 going into the 80's briefly on Sunday night before Ron 
suctioned my father.  Dr. Kariya tells me not to worry, recalling a recent mountain-climbing trip where he 
took a pulse oximeter along and found that in the thin air his 02 level would occasionally go into the low 
80's with no ill-effect.  I feel relieved.  A few hours later I see Dr. Kariya in the hallway.  I ask him if he 
can order more frequent respiratory therapy, perhaps every 4 hours.  He says to me “you know, to the 
patient, each time you suction it feels like choking.  It’s torture.  At some point you have to ask yourself if 
you are doing it for his benefit or for yours.” 
  
My friend Natalia visits.  As she sits with me a man with a waxing machine enters the room.  The room 
fills with a cloud of dust and we all start coughing.  Natalia asks him in Spanish if he could please stop. 
  
As the day goes by each nurse has something different to say about the ultrasound test, one saying she 
sees nothing on record, another that’s its non-emergent so my father is in the queue, still another tells me 
it’s scheduled for tomorrow morning. 
  
Monday late afternoon my father wakes up a bit.  He is awake for a few hours.  I notice the infuser 
dispensing the rocephin was not moving.  There were no alarms but it was frozen in place.  The nurse 
came in and started to remove the IV when I pointed out that it was still ¾ full.  I suggested to her that the 
batteries probably were dead.  She tried to figure out how to open it and replace the batteries.  She left it 
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on my father’s lap while she went to look for another infuser.  She came back saying that the office in 
charge of this was already closed.  This medication can be given “bolus,” pushed very slowly every few 
minutes.  I left for about 10 minutes and when I returned the syringe was gone. 
  
I recall feeling very uneasy.  Should I believe that I was just fortunate to be around the two times there 
were antibiotic delivery problems, or should I extrapolate and wonder how many times these kinds of 
things happened when I wasn’t there. 
  
[On either Monday or Tuesday morning I asked my father’s nurse if she gave him his heparin injection.  
She said it was not on the computerized list of medications that she was responsible for.  She could not 
tell me anything else.  I went and inquired of the charge nurse and a few minutes later my father received 
the injection.] 
  
Later in the evening a respiratory tech named Henry came in to do suctioning.  I sat outside the room in 
the hallway feeling very downcast.  As Henry came out he asked me if I was alright.  I nodded as he 
continued, “you know your father can pull through this.  He has a strong cough.  He’s doing 70 percent of 
the work bringing up his secretions; I’m just suctioning from the very top.”  I told him I heard suctioning 
felt like chocking to the patient and Henry vigorously disagreed.  “I’ve been doing this since the Vietnam 
War,” he told me, “and I can tell how a patient feels by his reaction.  Your father actually appreciates 
having his airways cleared and being able to immediately breathe easier.  You can just feel how relieved 
he is.”  Henry continued, “If I didn’t think your father could pull through I would have just told you that 
I’m finished and you can go back in.  Believe me, he can pull through.” 
  
Henry tells me he was on the team that took my father down to X-ray 8 days ago when they tried to insert 
the NG tube and failed.  “You moved things up 48-hours by calling Dr. White in and insisting that the 
PICC line and NG attempts be made on Sunday,” he said.  “You can’t be serious,” I replied, and he said 
he was.  “If not for your actions your father wouldn’t have had his PICC line until Wednesday.” 
  
Tuesday (March 25) early in the morning I see Jorde at the nurse’s station.  I tell him that I am worried 
about the continued high white count and the antibiotics.  “Why don’t they just give him some vanco 
already and get it over with.  What are they waiting for?”  Horde replies that you can’t use vancomycin 
indiscriminately; doing so can do more harm than good.   “Harm to society or to my father?” I ask.  He 
acknowledges my point but says that vancomycin can actually harm my father if it is not appropriate to 
the bacteria he has.  He thinks that my father is on the other teaching team and if so I can be assured that 
each day the nature of the bacteria is assessed and the antibiotics adjusted accordingly. 
  
I leave to pick up Nomeda and bring her to the hospital.  I just have a good feeling about today.  It is a 
warm day and I play music in the car.  I tell Nomeda “today will be a good day.  You’ll see.” 
  
Back at the hospital I speak with charge nurse Darlene about the ultrasound test that was to be done 
yesterday.  She checks and says there is no record of any order for a test.  She has a call in to Dr. Riar & 
Shamim’s office.  Dr. Riar will look into the matter and get back with her. 
  
Quite suddenly around 10:00 am my father’s eyes open and he starts talking and moving his arms.  He has 
not been this awake since he sat up in the ICU last week.  He is asking questions (where am I, why am I 
here) and gently humming.  He is smiling and affectionate.  Nomeda and I take turns leaning over to him 
and engaging him.  Now he is not falling back asleep or getting groggy.  He is wide awake.  His speech is 
very soft.  He asks when he will be discharged to go home.   Can we make it to the Mincha prayer?  I am 
translating the Yiddish for Nomeda.  My father says “I am so thirsty.  Give me something to drink.  Give 
me something to eat.  If you don’t give me something to eat you’re killing me.” 
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The stomach feeding had been stopped from noon in preparation for the ultrasound test now scheduled for 
4:00. 
  
I got an apple juice with ice and dipped a foam lollipop into it for my father to suck.  (We’d been doing 
this with apple juice or water for the past few days, always wringing out the foam before putting it to his 
lips or his tongue.)  Now my father was sucking for dear life.  He was pulling so hard on the lollipop we 
had difficulty getting it out.  I would say “open up so I can get you more.”  Nomeda and I took turns 
giving my father these lollipops. 
  
During the afternoon I call Dr. Shamim’s office to inquire (and request if needed) that my father is 
assigned to a teaching team.  Mrs. Altschuler answers.  She wants me to know that she & Dr. Altschuler 
visited my father the previous week.  I tell her that my father is awake and talking and she says that is a 
very good sign. 
  
Caroline Williams came in to see me about my complaint regarding Dr. Weiner.  We met in a room across 
from Susan King’s office.  She takes detailed notes as I describe the way Dr. Weiner screamed at me and 
waved his finger.  She tells me such behavior is unacceptable and will be investigated.  I will hear back 
from her within 30 days.  I tell her how relieved I am that my father is finally on the road to recovery. 
  
Dr. Shamim walks into the room to examine my father and is very surprised to see him this awake.  I 
introduce him to my father, and demonstrate to him how my father is sucking.  “Oh good,” he says, “He’s 
swallowing.”  My father is put on a gurney to go down for the ultrasound.  Dr. Shamim rides in the same 
elevator and says goodbye to him.  My father smiles at me and talks throughout the test. 
  
Nomeda waits outside while the ultrasound is done.  Afterward we go back to the room, put my father 
back in his bed and Nomeda is ready to leave for the day.  I apologize for not being able to take her to the 
metro, but won’t leave my father even for a few minutes now that he is awake. 
  
Very suddenly my father’s breathing becomes rapid and he is fighting for air.  I call for help.  First the 
nurses increase the airflow to his canula and soon they give him a mask.  Dr. Kariya comes in for his 
rounds.  I tell him what happened and he listens to my father’s lungs and quickly goes out to the nurse’s 
station.  After a few minutes I go out to look for him and a nurse tells me he is gone.  "Wasn't he in to see 
your father?" she asks?  An x-ray is taken.  The nurse tells me it shows “aspiration pneumonia.” 
  
My father is still awake and pulling the mask off every few seconds.  I gently hold his hands and kiss 
them and tell him that he has to keep the mask on.  I move back to watch him.  He pulls the mask off.  As 
I come toward him he looks straight at me and screams in pure anger, “Gey Avek.  Avek!!”  Sleep takes 
hold and my father is never to wake up again. 
  
I see his sat levels going into the upper and even middle 80s.   I see nobody in the hallway or the nurse’s 
station to ask for help.  I go into the waiting room to call Anita and ask for her advice when I see a young 
resident getting into the elevator.  I stop him and tell him I need his help.  I ask him to come into my 
father’s room.  Dr. Al-Quatami follows me in, looks at my father and quickly says “he needs to be 
intubated.”  I ask if they can try suctioning him first, explaining how good things had been all day.  He 
replies that he will call respiratory but that suctioning is not going to help.  He runs out to the nurse’s 
station while I stay with my father.  
  
Dr. Al-Quatami comes back in and tells me that in looking through the record he sees reluctance on the 
part of the doctors to intubate my father because of his age.  “We know from experience that older people 
don’t do very well on the respirator.  It is also a very uncomfortable procedure.  Do you know that even 
when you stick someone over and over with a needle to draw blood you are hurting them.  If I were to tell 
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you that intubating him would only prolong the inevitable would you still want it done?”  I recall thinking 
about the utter ridiculousness of his remark about needles as I explained to him that there is no certainty at 
all that this is a hopeless situation.  "My father was walking around our apartment buildings 2 weeks ago," 
I told him.  "He comes here with no co-morbidities, a healthy heart and lungs.  He deserves the benefit of 
any doubt.”  I contrasted it with my mother who passed away of lung cancer where I did not request a 
respirator or CPR.  “Even more importantly,” I tell him, “I am my father’s advocate and he would want to 
follow Jewish Halacha.  He has complete faith in the guidance he receives from his Rabbi, who made 
himself very clear on the matter.”  Dr. Al-Quatami asks “If I show you the records and the doctors' 
opinions about this would it change your mind?”  I say no! 
  
He asks if he might talk with the Rabbi about this, and I give him Rabbi Anemer’s number, relieved to be 
over this hurdle.  I thank him for all he has done for us, noting that I pulled him out of an elevator and he 
came to our rescue.   “This white coat obligates me to help anyone anytime,” he replies, “even someone in 
the street.”  He leaves the room and a female respiratory tech begins suctioning my father.  His rough 
breathing doesn't change but the tech says she suctioned out quite a bit.  Dr. Al-Quatami returns and says 
“Your Rabbi doesn’t want to budge.  We’re gonna need to intubate."  I reply "ok, do it." 
  
My father’s mask is replaced with a 100 % oxygen mask (this mask has a plastic air-filled bag under the 
part that fits over the nose and mouth) and his breathing immediately becomes easier.  He is in a peaceful 
sleep and I am staying by his side and holding his hand waiting for the doctor to return.  A nurse soon 
comes in and replaces the mask with his previous mask.  His respiration and heart rate immediately go 
up.  His breathing is labored.  I go out into the hallway asking for Dr. Al-Qatami.  I’m told he is on 
another floor.  I reach him on the phone and ask what became of the intubation.  “It won’t happen 
tonight,” he replied.  “The situation is under control and we're keeping a close watch.  We have your 
father on oxygen and his breathing is better.”  I pointed out that since they switched masks this wasn't the 
case any longer; now his breathing is labored once again.  "We can’t keep him on 100% O2 for very 
long," he tells me, "his respiratory muscles will become accustomed to it.  They have to be kept 
working.”  I go home exhausted, gratified that we apparently dodged the intubation bullet and that the 
hospital is on top of the situation.  I was very worried though; I knew we're in trouble. 
  
Early Wednesday (March 26) morning I come in to find my father in the same condition - rapid 
breathing and heart rate, but now with the 100% mask.  A respiratory tech comes to give inhalation 
treatment.  I ask for suctioning but am told that it is only done when the tech hears impaired breathing that 
can benefit from suctioning.  Nomeda comes in and is shocked at what she finds.  Soon Ruthie is there 
too.  I spot Dr. Kariya at the nurse’s station and I tell him “my father is in big trouble and no one wants to 
help him.”  “I agree with the first part of your statement,” he replies, “but not with the second.”  He gets 
up and goes straight into my father’s room.  As Ruthie watches he asks me to help him turn my father to 
his side.  He explains that he wants the fluid in the lungs to drain in that direction.  He listens to my 
father’s chest very carefully.  I tell him how well my father was doing before it all suddenly collapsed.  
“You are wondering why he is suddenly doing so poorly,” he observes.  “I was wondering all this time 
why he was doing so well.” 
  
Dr. Kariya begins to suction my father.  I am across the bed watching.  As the secretions come up he 
mutters to himself “I can’t believe he’s still infected after all that antibiotic.”  I tell him that as my father 
was pulling off his mask last night he pushed me away screaming “go away.”  Those were his last words 
to me.  Dr. Kariya asks “Do you think that he may have been angry at you for trying to keep him alive?”  I 
shake my head in disbelief at the disconnect between the reality of what happened (the new mask was 
simply annoying my father) and what this man was thinking.  He makes a point to explain the rationale 
for having my father turned on his side to Ruthie and then walks out of the room with me.  At the nurse’s 
station he asks if I have funeral arrangements in place.  He says he didn’t want to ask me this in front of 

133



Diary, page 11 of 15 
my father.  I tell him I do but that I’m not hoping for a funeral.  I ask about the liver enzyme numbers and 
he tells me they are coming back down to normal. 
  
[Rabbi Koss came in and spoke with me briefly while Dr. Kariya was suctioning my father.] 
  
My father’s heart and respiratory rates continue to clime throughout the day (HR 110-120, RR 38-44) but 
his pulse 02 levels are in the mid 90s.  Finally after a few hours I figure it out; indeed his O2 sat rate is 
high but he’s paying a terrible price for it.  He needs to be intubated and they’re not doing it! 
  
Just then Dr. Shamim walks in and appears as surprised as Nomeda was to see the condition my father is 
in.  He asks me what happened and I fill him in.  I point to the monitor and ask him “how much longer 
can a heart beat like that?  I think my father needs to be intubated.”  Dr. Shamim replies, “I think you’re 
right.  If his heart keeps beating this fast it’s going to 'get tired.'  He should be intubated.  I’m going to call 
a pulmonologist.”  (A sick feeling comes over me as I realize this probably should have been done a long 
time ago – but help is finally at hand.) 
  
He comes back a moment later with Dr. Weiner.  “Why do you want to intubate him?” Dr. Weiner asks.  
“I thought you said you were just gonna do this once.”  I tell him he has to help my father.  “He was 
getting better and I did this to him,” I said.  He asks what I’m talking about and I explain that I very likely 
caused my father to aspirate by giving him lollipops to suck on.  "It would have happened anyway," he 
replied, "if not today then next week."  He orders a blood gas test.  The lady who draws the blood is 
wearing a scarf or headcovering.  As she leaves Dr. Weiner waves his hand toward my father and remarks 
“I would never do this to my parent.” 
  
I told him how important Jewish Halacha is to my father; the esteem in which he holds Rabbi Anemer and 
Rabbi Anemer holds him.  I told him that the Rabbi is reluctant to even enter an ICU because he is a 
Kohen, yet he came to see my father.  “I thought a Mikva takes care of that sort of thing,” Dr. Weiner 
replied. 
  
He asks me, “Hasn’t everything I said come true?  Remember when I told you on again- off again, on 
again-off again?  Remember when I asked you how many 105-year-olds you know, how many 100-year-
olds you know?”  I interrupt him to point out that he predicted my father would be on and off a respirator 
every 3 days; he was extubated 9 days ago, and...  “Makes no difference,” Dr. Weiner replies.  “I’m sure 
you realize now it’s not possible that Dr. Nawaz could have told you he’ll let him go home the next day.” 
  
He is standing on the side of the bed near the window.  I am across from him and Dr. Shamim is at my 
father’s feet.  I say to Dr. Weiner “my father looked so good yesterday.  He was awake and talking - tell 
him, Dr. Shamim.”  Dr. Shamim is silent as Dr. Weiner rips into me:  "Let's make sure we understand 
this.  Your father looked good?  You look ‘okay.’  I’m 53 years old.  I look ‘okay.’  Your father doesn’t 
look ‘okay’ and he certainly never looked good.”  I reply that 2 weeks ago he was walking outside in 
circles around our apartment complex.  “I did this to him by giving him too much liquid yesterday.”  Dr. 
Weiner walks around the bed to my side and says:  “If you take one thing away from this it should be that 
you did nothing to hurt your father.  He was dead the day he got here.” 
  
The lady comes back in with the blood gas results.  The numbers are handwritten on an envelope or piece 
of paper that she holds up to him.  Dr. Weiner tells her “We're not going to intubate.”  I say to him 
“Doctor, if there is even the slightest chance of survival we have to give my father that chance.”  He 
replies, “Don’t you hear what I’m telling you?  Zero.  His chances are zero.  His life as you knew it is 
over.  His condition makes him incapable of life off of a machine.  Zero.” 
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 He walks back toward the window.  I tell him “I want him intubated.”  He responds, “Mr. Neustadter, 
intubation is a very dangerous procedure.  We don’t just intubate anytime someone asks; something can 
go wrong.”  (Even as I sense condescension in the tone of his voice and his choice of words I still accept 
what he says medically, having never met a doctor who would purposely mislead a patient.)  He turns to 
Dr. Shamim and says something I couldn't quite make out, and ends with "in any case he’ll be dead within 
the next 3 days.”  As the two doctors walk out of the room together Dr. Weiner stops for a moment near 
the door, turns back to me and asks “How can you say he was walking around the building?  He could 
barely move.”   
  
I stay with my father and pray.  I don't really understand.  Did my father get too sick too quickly to even 
risk an intubation?  What happened?  Do the blood gas numbers have to fall below a certain level before 
an intubation is mandated?  Two weeks ago they only intubated when his pulse O2 fell into the mid 80s; 
now it’s still in the 90s.  Was the prognosis as poor from the start as Dr. Weiner just depicted?  From my 
perspective he was certainly getting better over the past few days.  I remember Dr. Chanales telling me 
that Weiner is a very good doctor but with a reputation for being “a little rough around the edges.”  All 
this time were the doctors seeing something that I was unable to see?  I don't know how we got "from 
there to here" so fast, when things looked so good to me just yesterday - but if they can't intubate it's all 
over, isn't it? 
  
I went into the hallway and called (or took a call from) Rabbi Anemer.  I told him how bad the situation 
was.  I remember relating to him how Dr. Weiner said “I would never do this to my parents” and Rabbi 
Anemer replied, “Well, we know that.  Of course he wouldn’t.”  I told Rabbi Anemer that I heard Dr. 
Weiner say my father would be dead within 3 days no matter what.  He said “nu, baruch hashem" (thank 
God he won't have to suffer too much longer.) 
  
Ruthie came to the hospital toward the evening and stayed for a few hours.  At one point my father’s 
pulse O2 went down to the upper 80’s and I called the nurse into the room.  She left and soon came back 
with 3 or 4 people including lady with the headcovering who had taken the blood gas test earlier.  She 
asked us if we could wait outside while they attended to my father.  “We want to try to see what we can 
do to avoid having to intubate,” she said.  I waited in the hallway with Ruthie.  While waiting I called 
Anita and updated her on what was happening and how they were repositioning my father.  (She recalls 
my telling her that I couldn't find anyone who was willing to intubate but that I was still hopeful I'd get 
someone to do it.)  She gave me encouragement but asked no specific questions.  “Hang in there," she 
advised, "Just go with the flow.  They know what they're doing, let them do their job.” 
  
The people leave my father’s room and the lady comes over to me and Ruthie and informs us that his 
oxygen level is now back to around 96.  “We have him positioned just the way we want him,” she says.  
“Be careful not to move him or change the position of the bed.”  This reinforces my view that they are 
trying everything to avoid a much-too-risky intubation.  In other words, they are treating my father as best 
they can.  I also began to understand that it looks terminal.  They’re just waiting for something to happen 
because there is nothing else they can do. 
  
Ruthie leaves and I stay with my father.  Sometime after 10:00 pm two technicians come in to do an 
EKG.  I lower the bed to the flat position and my father’s heart rate on the monitor goes down to the 
upper 40’s and 50’s.  He starts shaking.  I run to the bed and raise it again.  He stabilizes.  The techs are 
angry.  They tell me they can’t take an EKG this way.  I tell them yes, but look what happened to his heart 
rate; look how he was shaking.  One tech says to the other.  “I will tell the nurse that the family is 
interfering with the test.”  Turns to me and says, “Sir, we just want to do the test real quickly.  It is normal 
for a 91 year old to shake.”  They straightened the bed out again with the same result but they did the test 
quickly and put the bed up again. 
  

135



Diary, page 13 of 15 
I never felt more alone in my life.  It was around 11:00 pm and I asked to speak with a resident.  An Asian 
lady came to see me.  I asked her if it was “safe” for me to go home or might something happen.  She 
looked at my father, asked how long he had been this way and told me that nothing was likely to happen 
but if anything did she would call me at once. 
  
Thursday morning (March 27) I was back around 4:30 am.  As I get out of the elevator on the 6th floor I 
see one of the respiratory techs from late last night.  He tells me my father was fine all night.  I go into the 
room to find him completely naked, shivering.  His heart rate is 140 and his RR is in the 40’s.  His nurse 
comes in and tells me she has him uncovered to try to break the fever.  “I know it looks cruel but it is for 
his benefit.  We’ll cover him soon.”  [I went down to the ER to speak with Dr. White.  He advised me to 
go hold my father hand...]  I hold my father’s hand and don’t let go.  At 7:30 am Nomeda walks in.  She 
stays at my father’s feet.  My father’s face looks hollow, sunken in.  His pillowcase is wet from sweat.  I 
call for a respiratory tech to see if they can suction my father.  The tech tells me that there is nothing to 
suction, the secretions are too deep down in the lungs. 
  
I recall telling myself that precisely because I caused my father to be in the situation he is in now I will be 
tempted to order CPR when his heart stops.  I know CPR entails ventilation.  It would be ill advised to 
condemn him to spend the rest of his life on a vent with no chance of recovery to lessen my guilt.  That 
would be the worst thing I could do and I should fight the temptation no matter how strong. 
  
I spread a Talis (prayer shawl) over my father’s lap and make a blessing on his Tflillin (Phylacteries.)  I 
bring them to his lips and say "you’re going to have one more Mitzvah" (fulfill one more commandment.) 
  
Suddenly at exactly 8:50 am my father’s breathing seems to collapse.  The respiration rate drops from the 
40s to single digits.  The heart rate goes down to 89.  My father is gasping for air.  I will never forget the 
sound.  His pulse O2 is now in the lower 70s.  I am frozen in place, thinking his heart is going to stop.  If 
this is Hashem’s will I accept it.  Nomeda asks me if she should go out and call for a nurse.  I tell her not 
to leave me.  I press the call button and tell them my father is having trouble breathing.  Please come!  A 
voice responds “we’ll be in right away.” 
  
My father’s left eye is tearing and the right eye lower lid is curling up and pink.  I am holding his hand 
and pressing the call button again asking for someone to come in at once.  Again they reply that someone 
will be in.  I am now in total disbelief at what is happening.  His heart has clearly not stopped and I fear 
we’ve passed the threshold for certain brain damage.  I’m expecting someone to come through the door 
any moment.  Will they offer to intubate him now or is it too late?  Why didn't I run into the hallway the 
minute this happened? 
  
At 9:50 am, exactly one hour later, x-ray comes in for a picture.  I say to the two technicians “look at 
him!”  They go back out and a moment later I hear Denise's voice in the hallway:  “He’s refusing an x-
ray?  Ok, just remove the entry from the computer; we’re not playing games today.”  I am astonished at 
those words and I fear my father is now in a situation with no way out.  "Unbelievable,"  I’m thinking to 
myself as I'm holding his hand, keeping my eyes closed and praying .  I look up and Dr. Weiner is at the 
bedside, our positions exactly reversed from the night before.  It is precisely 10:00 am.  He asks simply, 
“What do you want me to do?”  (What kind of a question is that?  I told him what to do last night!)  At 
once I understand that games are indeed being played and that the medical personnel around me simply 
didn't want to treat my father.  Dr. Weiner refused my pleas last night when I was alone, but he is now 
asking for my guidance in the light-of-day to cover himself as people surround him and after my father 
has been deprived of oxygen for over an hour!  “I want you to please leave the room,” I tell him.  My 
thoughts at that moment are that he is not worthy of being in the same room as my father. 
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Dr. Weiner quickly escorts everyone out.  "The son wishes to be alone with his father."  Within a minute 
Denise and my father’s nurse Elaine come in asking if I want further treatment.  I say no.  A moment later 
Elaine again returns and starts explaining DNR to me.  I tell her that I need to speak to Dr. Weiner at 
once.  We did not have a conversation about what happened to my father and what options are still 
available now.  I need to talk to him.   She runs out and quickly comes back to tell me that he is just 
outside the room on the hallway phone.  I go out and approach him, sticking my arm out to get his 
attention.  He glances up at me and quickly averts his gaze, looking down at his shoes as he is talking.  I 
am a foot away, saying “excuse me!” and he ignores me.  I go back into the room and tell the nurse and 
Nomeda that the doctor won’t get off the phone to talk to me.  I ask Nomeda to let me know as soon as he 
is off the phone.  Five minutes later she comes back and says he’s still out there.  I have Nomeda hold my 
father’s hand as I go back out.  Dr. Weiner is still on the phone and I approach him once again and stick 
my hand in front of his face.  He still doesn’t acknowledge, looking purposefully downward.  Again I am 
only about a foot away.  I can hear the conversation he is having:  “He says he's not HIV positive but I 
don’t believe him.  If I don’t hear anything by tomorrow I’ll just admit him.” 
  
I go back into the room and again tell Nomeda and Elaine that the doctor won’t talk to me.  Nomeda goes 
back outside.  Moments later she returns and says that Dr. Weiner is now in the next room seeing a 
patient.  I tell Elaine to please get him in.  She comes back in a few minutes and says Dr. Weiner has now 
left the floor.  I ask to see any other pulmonologist quickly.  I ask that Dr. Weiner be paged.  Caroline 
Williams comes into the room along with a lady who identified herself as being with management.  She 
later tells me that she’s a doctor.  I told them what happened and that I needed to speak to a pulmonologist 
– any pulmonologist.  Chaplin Susan Mitchell comes in and I relate everything to her.  They appear to be 
trying to honor my request to speak to a pulmonologist but it never happens. 
  
Elaine asks me if I would like my father to receive morphine for his pain.  This is the first moment I 
become fully aware that my father may have been choking all this time and could be in indescribable 
agony.  It takes over 30 minutes for them to get it.  “Where is the morphine?” I keep asking.  My father’s 
new nurse, Jim, introduces himself.  Another lady comes in to explain the hospice program.  They will 
move my father to a facility where he will be given medication for pain but no life-prolonging treatment.  
 I ask the lady how long my father will be in this condition.  She says it can last for many days.  I marvel 
at the ignorance, each staffer practicing her specialty and all of them clueless.  Can’t they tell by looking 
at him that he is near death?  Yet the system grinds on. 
  
Dr. Shamim visits sometime after noon and examines my father.  He says the breathing is very shallow 
and it won’t be much longer.  He expresses his condolences.  I recall repeating to the people in the room 
more than once that I needed to speak to Dr. Weiner when he was on the phone and he wouldn’t talk to 
me.  The lady who identified herself as being from management explained to me that doctors have a habit 
of focusing intensely on whatever medical conversation they are having.  He probably didn’t even notice 
me.  Susan Mitchell remarks on how I was very attached to my father and this was just a “tough case” 
from the start.  It is as though she is summing things up to herself. 
  
At 1:40 pm my father’s breathing stopped and the heart monitor alarmed and went to zero.  Only Nomeda 
was in the room with me at that time.  She came over and hugged me as I held onto my father’s hand.  
Soon Jim came in, listened with his stethoscope and said “I believe he has passed.” 
  
He left the room and some 15 minutes later charge nurse Denise walks in and asks if I would like them to 
inject chemicals to try to revive my father.  I just look straight into her eyes in silence – still holding my 
father’s hand.  She repeats the question and I just stare at her.  She turns to Nomeda and asks “does he 
understand me?”  Nomeda says yes and walks Denise to the door.  I recall thinking to myself: “I don’t 
believe any of this.  Nobody else will either.”  
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When I requested the medical records from Holy Cross in April, Lorna from the records office informed 
me that they were not complete because the discharge summary had not been received.  Doctors have 30 
days in which to complete this report.  When it was still not submitted on May 6, 2003 the records were 
released to me and marked “incomplete.” 
  
Doctor Nawaz finally dictated the report on June 19, 2003.  The records office declined to provide it to 
me at the time because their policy is not to release reports prior to review and signature. 
  
The report was redictated on June 25, 2003, and on July 2, 2003 Ileana of the records office informed me 
that the signed report was now waiting for me to pick up.  She told me that Dr. Nawaz had been placed on 
suspension that week for failing to file the report. 
  
I walked in around 5:30 pm and the receptionist went to get the report.  Moments later I saw Dr. Nawaz 
eyeing me from the back of the office.  He came over and expressed his condolences saying he didn’t 
have a chance to call me.  He asked me if there was anything he could do.  I told him that I was deeply 
concerned about a number of things.  Before I could finish my sentence he simply turned away and 
walked back into the records area.  He went to a cubicle where he was working on my father’s chart.  I 
told records officer Nancy Gross that I was here to pick up the report that Ileana said was waiting for me.  
Dr. Nawaz replied from behind his cubicle “I have it right here.  I’m not touching that one, I’m correcting 
an earlier report.”  He then got up and walked by me without saying a word. 
  
Nancy Gross provided me with the discharge summary as well as the earlier version that was stricken. 
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Was Medical Standard of Care Breached? 
  

1. After being placed on dyazide for 3 weeks by admitting physician patient felt ill.  A stat BMP & CBC on Feb 27 
showed hyponatremia (sodium=125) and leukocytosis (WBC=14.3 w/left shift.)  Dyazide was held but white count 
results were overlooked.  Dyazide, a diuretic, is associated with leukopenia.  A leukocytosis of 14.3 with left-shift in 
the presence of hyponatremia mandates antibiotic treatment or at least follow-up.  The patient's life depends on it. 
   

2. 1 week later a repeat BMP was done but no follow-up CBC.  Physician is informed that patient still symptomatic but 
takes no action.  Patient presents in ER 5 days later with a WBC of 38,000, sinusitis, sepsis, atypical pneumonia. 
   

3. Admitting physician’s orders cut Levaquin to 250 mg after one dose but nurse’s notes show 500 mg for 3 doses.   
Patient response from day 2 > seems consistent with lowered dose.  Any dosage reduction is unwarranted. 
   

4. Hospital appears to ignore warning signs of continuing infection.  WBC allowed to hover at 20,000 indefinitely.  
Copious secretions arouse no concern.  Antibiotic treatment never reassessed.  3-day gap in antibiotic orders. 
   

5. Hospital fails to address nutritional issue in a timely manner.  1 full week elapses w/o nutrition.  58 hours elapse from 
nutrutional consult to PPN delivery due to error.  Prealbumin sinks to 3.8 (reference = 20-40) indicative of starvation. 
   

6. No attempt to address Zenkers Diverticulum - the underlying, longstanding deformity preventing insertion of NG tube 
and suspected of causing aspiration.  It can be repaired endoscopically or with low-risk surgery.  No attempt to 
perform temporary tracheotomy to protect airway.  Patient in otherwise excellent health, excellent quality of life. 
   

7. When patient suddenly develops respiratory distress after breathing independently for eight days  (receiving peg tube 
and becoming alert during this time) doctors fail to provide life-sustaining treatment and fail to inform family that 
patient requires such treatment.  The following day they deny family's direct request for intubation saying 
unequivocally that it cannot be done.  Patient succumbs to respiratory distress a day later after pulmonologist refuses 
to talk with family and hospital fails to secure another doctor.  Patient was full-code. 
   

8. Progress notes omit lengthy visit of primary care pulmonologist Dr. Weiner, who examined patient, ordered and 
received blood gas test results and unequivocally refused family's plea for intubation.  Notes state that another doctor 
was contacted and that blood gas results should be called in. 
   

9. Discharge summary falsely states doctors informed family intubation was needed and family declined such treatment! 
   

10. Progress notes indicate patient and family were Orthodox Jewish, unwavering in demand for life-sustaining treatment; 
show no indication that family refused such treatment at any time; indicate pulmonologist was hoping aggressive 
treatment would be avoided yet knew that family desired such treatment; show no indication of discussion about 
intubation by any of the primary-care doctors with family; zero compliance with Maryland's HCDA.  

 
Was Ethical Standard of Care Upheld? 

  
"The social commitment of the physician is to sustain life and relieve suffering. Where the performance of one duty conflicts 
with the other, the preferences of the patient should prevail." 
  
"Physicians should provide all relevant medical information and explain to surrogate decision makers that decisions regarding 
withholding or withdrawing life-sustaining treatment should be based on substituted judgment (what the patient would have 
decided) when there is evidence of the patient’s preferences and values. In making a substituted judgment, decision makers 
may consider the patient’s advance directive (if any); the patient’s values about life and the way it should be lived; and the 
patient’s attitudes towards sickness, suffering, medical procedures, and death." 
  
"There is no ethical distinction between withdrawing and withholding life-sustaining treatment." 
  
American Medical Association, Code of Medical Ethics, E-2.20 
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Text Box
1.  Handover to Dr. Weiner confirmed by deposition and trial testimony.

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/6-4-08-shamim_trial_excerpts.pdf#page=19
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/shamim_depo_q&a.pdf
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Text Box
2.  Dr. Nawaz now admits he had no basis for this statement (he made it up).
     According to Holy Cross Hospital intubation was never "recommended" for this patient.


https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/nawaz_letter_hch_5-22-08.pdf
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/appellee-brief-3-20-09-intubation.pdf
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Text Box
DNR form, obtained from general counsel on May 25, 2006.
 
Why wasn't this form found in the patient records file?
 
- Form written on March 16, 2003 by weekend on-call doctor
  without admitting physician's or surrogate's knowledge.
- Form expired on March 17, 2003 upon Dr. Ball's final visit.
- Form was in any case void upon patient's transfer out of ICU.
- Admitting doctor, attending doctor and pulmonologist all say
  patient was full-code after leaving ICU.
- Form made patient a "candidate for intubation."
 
Why wasn't patient intubated when intubation was needed?
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/6-3-08_nawaz_full-code.pdf
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/6-4-08_shamim_full-code.pdf
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/6-4-08_kariya_full-code.pdf
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Text Box
Pharmacy record obtained by court order May 25, 2007
 
Assuming "IV MEDS FROM PHARMACY" are antibiotics, 40% of prescribed doses were never dispensed by hospital pharmacy.  Perhaps that is why Holy Cross Hospital refused to release this docoment.
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Text Box
Only 19 of the 32 doses needed are accounted for in this record.

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/hch_9-27-04.pdf
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?ATr£N'l' RE.::A1'!ONS WORKSHEC',';' 
For j:"acil tty; M 

MRN: 815510 NEUSTADTER,ISRAEL 91Y M 

_::& _______ ,..._ .. _=_;;I==:.;;:~;::;.:...:..:...:..:~:::::.:=..!====== ENCOUNTER DATA .;::.:.::.-:;.:<;.;;:.;l:':'--:"-::-======~"";-7"7':;';"';;"=;0.1: ... _== ______ =_ 

Start Date: 3/10/2003 Acct. No.: 03Q690C162 

Admit Phy.: NAWAZ,AHMED Attenc Phys: NAwAZ,AHMED 

Complaint: A--03S.9--SEPTICEMIA NOS 

End Date: 3/27/2003 Disch Ox: 

Date Received: 3/25/2003 Information Sou=ce: CUS'!' RELAT70N'S FAMILY VIS 

No: 03-118 facility; HOLt CROSS HOSPITAL 

Date: 3/24/2003 Time: Shift: 

Loe: IMC - INTE~D!ATE CARE UNIT Room No: 6231-2 

Depts: INTE~ED!AT~ CARE UN Empls: 

Phys Notified: N Risk Mgmt Notified: N Physician: WEINER,JAY H 

Inc Types: PROCEDURE/TREATMENT - DELAY 
MISCOMMUNICATION 
BEHAVIOAAL - I?H~S. !U!:LATE:D 

Quantities: 1 
1 
1 

Outcomes: 

Significance: P:t\octss IMt' lSSU!:S !O-PR, QI, R..~ p,)r"~rnetBt'$: 

Treatment: 

COIT'.ment: 

St<1.t~s: PENDING 

Comments/Abstract: SON - At NEUSTADTER CALLED WITH CONCERNS REGARDING A LIVER SONOGRAM 
STUDY FOR InS FATHF:R. DR. NAWAZ 'tOLD SON @ 10Al'! ON 3-24-03 HE WAS 
ORDERING A SONOG!lAM OF ThE L.IVER ON H],S E'AT!!E:R SIC THE TEST RF:SOLTS 
WBRi!: 4X HIGHER THAN N()RMAL, TIlE CHARGE NURSE (L1Z) ON THE NIGHT 
SHIFT (3/24/03) TOLD HIM THAT THE TEST WOULD BE DONE ON 3-25-03. THE 
DAY OF THE STUDY TH;;: STAfF TOLD HIM THAT THER!: WAS NO RECORD OF TilE 
TEST BEING ORDRED. 

THE SON MADE THE FOLLOWING AODeO REQUEsTS: 
1. FATHER WAS ON T;;:AC~ING SVS B/C DURING rcu ADMISSION, SON WOOLD 
LIKE TO HAVE FATHER BACK ON TEACHING SVS. SON ALSO CALLED MD OFFIce 
TO VAKE THE SAME: REQUEST. 

?. SON woot.n T,IKE '1'0 BE INFORMED OF PROBL.EMS WI HIS FATRER' SLIVER 
FJ~CT!ONS & RESOLTS OF THE SONOGRAM. 

3. SON Wfu~TS FATHER SUCTIONED FREQCENTLY. 

4. SON :'EELS DR. WEINER DISPLAYED INZ,PPROPRIATE BEHAVIOR WITH 
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-
Text Box
Son clearly rejects end-of-life care, conveying to hospital desire for aggressive treatment and concern about behavior of Dr. Weiner.

-
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Text Box
Obtained by court order July 31, 2007
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MRN: 815510 NEUSTADTER,!SRAEL 

"--J ... - ......... ,.<~ .... ! ... , .. -",. 

?AT!E:N'i." RELA'i' ONS WO£{KSHEET 
Fer cae lity: M 

9lYM 

Comments/Abstract: (Continued) 

RES~EC1: TO THE CAR€ " TREATME.N'f OF HIS FATHER. STA.TES DR. WEINER 
VERBALLY EXPRESSED HOSTIL!TY TO NOTION or HIS DI\D'S .SURVIVAL. 
CONVERSATION WAS HELD AT 7liE BEDSIDE: WHERE HIS FATEilR COULD HEAR. SON 
fELT DR. WEINER'S .MANNERISM 1P..CK£D CP-.RE & COMPA.S5tON. SON WAN1'~D TO 
HAVE fu'lOTHER POLOMNOT,OGIST Ci'.RE FOR HIS DAD, aUT iT WAS NOT !JONE AT 
DR. NAWAZ'S RECOMMENDATrON. 

5. SON ASKED l\BOC1T HEPARIN INS. NURSE; CHRISTINE: SAID NOT ON L;:ST OF 
THINGS TO GIVE. SON C~gC~EO WITH OHARG~ ~aRSe DEBBIE. MED DAO 
SHOULD HAVE GOTTEN IN TH'€ MO.RN1NG WAS N01' CTVEN tJNT!T. , PM. SON 
QUESTIONS WHAT WOOLD Hil.VE Hl\~?t:N!:D IE' HE WII.SN'1' A'r P.OS?!TAt TO CHECK. 

6. SUNDAY DAD DID NOT GET LEVAQU!N. SUPPOSE TO GET Q24 liOURS. NURSB 
CONFIRMED SHE WAS CHECKING WITH PREVIOUS NORSE: TO SEE ,F" Sil;; GAVE THE 
MED. WHEN EVENING NURSE RON GIGB (SXCE:LLENT NURSE) ARRIVED @ 7 OR 
7: 15 I'M liE SAra, 'YES, WERE STILL 'lAI'l'ING TO ~;;AR BACK FROM THe NURSE 
ABOUT WHETHER SHE .GAVE THE MED." MF.D WASN'T GIVF:N ONTIt. 1.0 I'M AFTER 
Rx !'.ADE DETERMINATION llASED ON COON';;ING DOSE:S THAT MED WAS NOT CIVEN 
eARLIER. SON VERY CONCERNED THAT MISSED DOSE WOOLD ADVERSELY l\E'FECT 
HIS DAD'S ABILITY TO GET BETTER. 

7. PT CI'~'lE TO TREAT DAD. DAD I1AS SLEEPING THERA~ !ST LEFT. LA'fER, 
SON ASKED NORSE TO 1'_'WE THERAPTS1' COME !lACK. THERAPIST SAID SHE 
COOLDN'T BIC SHE WAS TOO BOSY. SON FELT SOMEONE FROM THE DE~AR1'MENT 
COOLO RAVE COME BACK TO RENDER THEAA.?X. 

SON WANTS ·to SEE STAFF GIVING GOOD CAR~ - STAYING ON TO? OF THINGS. 
MISSING ANTIB!OTICS, HEPA~IN SHOTS, PT AP?OINTMENTS • SONOGR~M 
STUDIES IS NOT HIS IDEA 0, GOOD C~~E. 

MARCH 27, 2003 
SON CALL~O CUSTOMER RELATIONS @ 11:36 AM REQOES~ING ASSISTANCE IN 
CONTAC'rIt'iG OR. OO'EINE.:R. HE W~.N'!'E:w TO GET Cr...i':..l."\!E'ICl\TION REGARDING ::1:S 
FATHER'S STATOS. SON 51:1\T1:0 HE TOLD CR. WEINER HE WANTED "NO FURTHER 
TREATMENT" • THEN TOLD DR. WEINER TO "LEAVE 'THE ROOM". DR. WEINER 
AS1{F.:D THE SON, 1;F HE WANTED ANOTHER DOCTOR, SON RE~EATED, 'PLEASE 
LEAVE T~", ~OOM." DR. W&LNER 1\SKED F'(;Al~, "DO rC8 Wk.""! ANOTHER 
DOCTOR?" sotJ SAID; "NO YOU'RE MY FATHER'S DOCTOR!h SON SAID, ?iE 
DIDN I T REALIZE WHAT tiE. WAS SA.Y!NC AT THE TI~.::E WHEN EE TOLD DR. WEINER 
NO FORTHER TREATMENT. H£ MEAN1' NO RESOSCITATION, NO INTDBATION, BUT 
HE WANTED EVERYTH:!NG ~LSE POSSIBLE TO BE DONE. 

SO~ S'fATES HE: CAI".E: OUT TO TIU,r< 1'177;; DR. WEINER TO CLAR!,y & EXPlJI.IN 
HIS COMMEt-iTS, BU'!' DR. WEINER WAS ON TH!': PHONE & oro NOT AC~OWLEDGE 
HIM. SON WANTED '1'0 CLI\RIFY THE COMHENTS HE M.">DE TO DR. WEINER B/C HE 
&'££LS 'f!}.fE.RE tI.A:f .HAVE BE:EN A MISUNDERSTANDING BTWN HIM & DR. WEINER. 

P~rson: BRENDA ~US~Q, R.N./LINDA ?AESE, R.N 
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Text Box
Hospital made aware of openly hostile doctor who does not want patient to survive, yet fails to intervene.  Two days later patient is euthanized by the withholding of treatment.
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Text Box
Son literally pleads for better care in the hope of saving his father's life.
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'10:20 AM 

MRN: 915510 NEOSTADTER,ISRAEL 

.~-J ..... _-- ......... ;-' ..... " .... 

PATIEN? RELATIONS WORKSHEE ff 

For Facility: M 

911 M 

RQf Date: 3/31/2003 Rasp E;xpected: 3/31/2003 Res~ R~ceiv"d: 3/3112003 

?A.GE 3 

Action: CALL/LETTER TO PATIENT/Fk~ILY Disposition: sttNT TO QUALITY !M2ROVEMENT 

Reason: FOR YOOR INFO~~TrON ONL! - NO RESPONSE NEEDED, 
Comment: NO ReSPONSE NREDED 

Referred To: INTERMEDIATE CARE ONIT Person: SaSAN KING, R,N., NORSE MANAGER 

Ref Date: 3131/2003 Rasp expected: 3/31/2003 Rasp Received: 3/31/2003 

Action: ISSUES !DENTTFIED Disposition: 

Reason: FOR YOuR INFORMATION 
Comment: ON GOING MEETINGS WERE CONDUCTED WITH SON, 

Referrad To: MEDICAL AFFAIRS Person: OR. SLAlR ErG, M.D. 

Ref Date: 3131/2003 Resp Expected: 3131/2003 Res? Received: 3131/2003 

Action: ISSUES IDENTIFIED Di3position! SENT TO QUALITY IMPROVEM!NT 

Reason: FOR aEVIEW 
Comment: DR. ELISE REILLY MET WITa THE SON ON 3/27/03 FROM 12:30 PM 

- 1:10 ~M TO CLARIFY ISSOES RE~ARD!NG HIS fATHER'S STATOS. 
SHE INFORMED THE SON SHE WOULD CALL DR. w~IN£R TO NOTIFY 
HIM OF HIS CONCERNS & DESIRE TO SEE HIM. DR. WEINER'S 
OFFICE WAS CALLED PRIOR TO MEETING WITH SON. MESSAGE LEFT 
WITH OFFICE FOR DR. WEINER TO CONTACT OR. REILLY ON HER 
PAGER. OR. REILLY QUESTIONED SON ABOOT SUPPORT SYSTEM FOR 
HIM & SUGGESTED PALLIATIVE CARECONSG1,T. SON AGREED. DR. 
RE:I1LY SAID SHE WOUW GET AN OROER FOR 'fHE CONSULT. 

----~~----~~~---~-----~-----~-----~=- INTERVIEW DATA 
Oate T~me Person Interviewed Location 
3/26/2003 S,30A CHRIS Ck~FIELD, R.N. UNABLE TO DETeRMINE 

Notes: CHRrS CALL~D THE CUSTOMER RELATIONS OFFICE TO FlU A 
OISCOSS!ON REGARDING MR. At NEOSTADTER'S aEHAVIO~ ON 
3/25/03. SHE SAID MR. NEUSTADTER HAD GIVEN HIS FATHER 
ICE CHIPS, APPLE JOICE & H20. CHRlS OSS8RVED HIM PUSHING 
ICE CHIPS DOWN HIS FATHE!R' S THROAT. Dl'.D liAS 1\ FEEDING 
TUBE. SON WAS ALSO NOTED ADJUSTNC HIS DAD'S OX~GEN. 

3/25/03 CRC PRESENT DURiNG DISCUSSIoN B11m CHRIS & At 
NECSTADTER, CHRIS ASl<'ED SON, FROM THIS POINT FOR;mRil ~OT 
TO TOUCH THE EQUIPMENT AT HIS FATHER'S SEDSIDE OR TO FE~D 
HIS FATHER ANYTHING. CHRIS l'ROMISED TrIE SON THAT THE 
STAF!? WOULD l'ROM!?TLY RESPOND TO l1,NY REQUtS',S H'. ,U\,D£: =0R 
flE:LP WITH HIS DAD " THE SON PROt-!!SED CHRIS HE WOULD NOT 
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-
Text Box
Patient still alive.  Son states there was a misunderstanding and urgently requests clarification of his father's status, of Dr. Weiner's refusal to intubate the previous night and of the options still available.  Son has plainly not signed off on "plan of care" to withhold treatment and to allow his full-code, non-terminal father to die.
 
Hospital fails to offer intubation pending resolution of status, fails to locate Weiner or covering doctor, "questions son about support system" and finally "suggests a palliative consult" one hour before death.

-
Text Box
Falsified record
Implausible next-day phone call from Nurse Canfield to inform Patient Relations that she witnessed son "pushing ice chips down his father's throat" the previous day.
 
This was likely inserted to demonstrate contributory negligence for legal purposes.  My father was never given ice at any time.
 
Can a hospital falsify records with impunity?

an
Highlight

an
Highlight

al
Highlight

al
Highlight

-
Text Box
*Nurse Canfield testified that she did not recall the incident or the patient, but that if she had witnessed such
  behavior she would have documented it contemporaneously rather than calling to report it the following day. 
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*

https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/canfield_depo_excerpt.pdf
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https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/prognotes_3-23-03.pdf
https://www.holycrosshealth.com/docs/nawaz-shamim-kariya-excerpts-code-status.pdf
al
Highlight



,JMI....-'O-.c:;.~ f • ..J" o:;.,>V 

"11),20 AM 
. 

PATIENT RELATIONS WORKSHEE~ 
For Facility: M 

Mill'; 815510 NEUSTADTER,rSRAEL 91'1' M 

Date Time Person Interviewed LocatiC'H' (Continued) 
ATTEMPT TO CARE; ,OR HIS DAD, BOT WOULD RATHER WArT ,01'. TH;:: 
NURSE TO RES~ONO. 

D<ltg 
3/27/2003 

Time 
11; 30», 

Person Interviewed Location 
'REV. Y. LOUISE HICKS, CHAPLIN !MC - INTERMEDIATE CARE UNIT 

Notes: MET WITH SON TO LISTEN TO HIS CONCERNS REGARDING 
CONVERSATION WITH 01\. WEINER, DNR/ONRI ORDER & DESIRE NOT 
TO HAVE ,ATHER RESOSCITATED & INTUBATED. 

Date 
3/2712003 

TimQ 
lZ:OO~ 

Person Interviewed 
DENISE JOHNSTON, R.~., CHARGE 

Location 
IMC - INT£RMEDIATF. CARZ uNIT 

Note.: DEN!S£ JOHNSTON & ELAINE THE PATIENT'S NURSE FROM THS 
NIGHT SHIFT MET WITH SON TO VER!ifY HIS REQUEST MAD:;; TO DR. 
WEINER OF NO FURTHER TREATMENT. DENISE STATED THAT T"E 
SON TOLD THEM HE Wfu~TED NO FURTHER TRE~TMENT. 
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Text Box
Patient still alive.  No action taken on son's concerns regarding conversation with Dr. Weiner and the purported decisions that were made.
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* No such order ever written.




